

Meeting of the Parliament

Wednesday 28 September 2016





Wednesday 28 September 2016

CONTENTS

	Col.
PORTFOLIO QUESTION TIME	
EDUCATION AND SKILLS	
School Governance Reforms (Attainment Gap)	
Attainment Scotland Fund	
Teacher Training (Inclusive Education)	
Student Support (European Union)	
University Admissions (Equality)	
Brexit (College Sector Implications)	
Physical Education and Extracurricular Activity	
Attainment Scotland Fund (Distribution)	
Autism Support (Attainment Gap)	
Education Governance Review	
College Buildings (Condition Assessment)	
LOCAL NATIONAL HEALTH SERVICES	17
Motion moved—[Anas Sarwar].	
Amendment moved—[Shona Robison].	4.7
Anas Sarwar (Glasgow) (Lab)	
The Cabinet Secretary for Health and Sport (Shona Robison)	∠ა
Donald Cameron (Highlands and Islands) (Con)	
Maree Todd (Highlands and Islands) (SNP)	
Jackie Baillie (Dumbarton) (Lab)	
Fulton MacGregor (Coatbridge and Chryston) (SNP)	
Brian Whittle (South Scotland) (Con)	
Neil Bibby (West Scotland) (Lab)	
Emma Harper (South Scotland) (SNP)	
Jeremy Balfour (Lothian) (Con)	
Ivan McKee (Glasgow Provan) (SNP)	
Elaine Smith (Central Scotland) (Lab)	
Graham Simpson (Central Scotland) (Con)	
Clare Haughey (Rutherglen) (SNP)	
Alex Cole-Hamilton (Edinburgh Western) (LD)	
Miles Briggs (Lothian) (Con)	
The Minister for Public Health and Sport (Aileen Campbell)	
Colin Smyth (South Scotland) (Lab)	
BUSINESS MOTION	
Motion moved—[Joe FitzPatrick]—and agreed to.	
PARLIAMENTARY BUREAU MOTIONS	75
Motions moved—[Joe FitzPatrick].	
DECISION TIME	76
RESIDENTIAL ROAD SAFETY	
Motion debated—[Mark Ruskell].	
Mark Ruskell (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Green)	82
Alex Johnstone (North East Scotland) (Con)	
Clare Adamson (Motherwell and Wishaw) (SNP)	
Jenny Marra (North East Scotland) (Lab)	
Gordon Lindhurst (Lothian) (Con)	
Alison Johnstone (Lothian) (Green)	
The Minister for Transport and the Islands (Humza Yousaf)	
	······································

Scottish Parliament

Wednesday 28 September 2016

[The Presiding Officer opened the meeting at 14:00]

Portfolio Question Time

Education and Skills

School Governance Reforms (Attainment Gap)

1. Mairi Evans (Angus North and Mearns) (SNP): To ask the Scottish Government how its reforms of school governance will contribute to closing the attainment gap between pupils from the poorest and wealthiest backgrounds. (S5O-00181)

The Deputy First Minister and Cabinet Secretary for Education and Skills (John Swinney): The defining mission of this Government is to close the attainment gap.

We believe that decisions about children's learning and school life should be decided at school level. We want to empower teachers, parents, children and communities to drive improvement in education, and we will oversee the biggest devolution of powers to our schools.

It is right that we consider the role that every part of our education system plays to support the crucial interaction between teacher and child, and that we question whether how we are currently organised supports educational improvement. We know that it is the quality of teaching and excellent school leadership that will close the gap.

Mairi Evans: Will the cabinet secretary explain how the removal of unit assessments at national 5 and higher level will contribute to closing the attainment gap? Will he say how the reduction in internal assessments will be quality assured, to ensure that teachers continue to monitor and track pupil progress appropriately?

John Swinney: I have listened carefully to the arguments around the presence of unit assessments, which were applied to the new qualifications by agreement across the education system. The changes to national 5 and higher that I have announced, which I will put to the curriculum for excellence management board tomorrow, are part of a package of measures that is designed to address unnecessary bureaucracy and—crucially—to liberate teachers and enable them to concentrate on teaching, changing the balance between assessment and learning in the education system so that more time can be allocated to the learning experience.

The whole issue of quality assessment is intrinsic to the exercising of teacher judgment in our education system, which is the crucial part of curriculum for excellence. It is important that that principle is made central to the delivery of education in Scotland's schools.

lain Gray (East Lothian) (Lab): The cabinet secretary's reform of school governance suggests a new funding formula for schools. What guarantee can he give us that no school will see a real-terms reduction in its budget as a result?

John Swinney: The purpose of the funding formula is to ensure that resources are deployed effectively where they are required to support attainment in our schools. I would have thought that Labour Party members would support that principle, given what they have said in the Parliament about the importance of ensuring that there is adequate and effective support to close the attainment gap in Scotland's education.

The Government has put forward proposals, which are under consideration by the Parliament, for increased resources to be made available to education through the rebanding of the council tax. I hope that the Labour Party is able to support us in that measure, to ensure that new resources can be allocated to Scottish education—I thought that the Labour Party believed in doing that.

Tavish Scott (Shetland Islands) (LD): At this morning's meeting of the Parliament's Education and Skills Committee, the Royal Society of Edinburgh suggested that separating the inspectorate and policy advice functions in Education Scotland would be an important reform for education in Scotland. Does the cabinet secretary agree?

John Swinney: Mr Scott has raised the issue before, and I am interested in what the Royal Society of Edinburgh said at this morning's committee meeting. As Mr Scott knows, the governance review sets out the issues to be considered in relation to the range of national bodies that are involved in the improvement of education. In my view, the functions of Education Scotland, whether we are talking about its role as the inspectorate or its role in education development, are all focused on improving the quality of Scottish education.

I will of course consider representations on the matter that are made to me through the consultation exercise, including from the Royal Society of Edinburgh and Mr Scott.

Attainment Scotland Fund

2. **Gil Paterson (Clydebank and Milngavie) (SNP):** To ask the Scottish Government whether it will provide an update on progress with the attainment Scotland fund. (S5O-00182)

The Deputy First Minister and Cabinet Secretary for Education and Skills (John Swinney): More than 300 primary schools across 21 local authority areas were supported in 2015-16 through the Scottish attainment fund. In that period, £11.7 million was allocated to seven challenge authorities with the greatest concentration of primary age children living in the 20 per cent most deprived areas in Scotland, and a further £2.5 million was allocated to 57 schools across 14 local authorities through the attainment Scotland fund schools programme.

Following the election, we expanded the Scottish attainment fund to £750 million over the next five years, which has allowed us to double the funding for our existing challenge authorities and schools programme to £50 million per year and extend the reach of the challenge to include secondary schools and two additional challenge authorities.

From financial year 2017-18, the additional £100 million per annum that will be raised each year from our council tax reforms will be allocated directly to schools, with headteachers given the freedom to invest the extra resources in the ways that they consider will have the biggest impact on raising attainment in their schools.

Gil Paterson: Will every school in Scotland benefit from the attainment fund in this parliamentary session? That would allow every child to benefit directly from the additional educational spend.

John Swinney: The Scottish attainment challenge is about achieving equity in educational outcomes, with a particular focus on closing the poverty-related attainment gap. The attainment Scotland fund is targeted at the significant number of children in Scotland whose educational outcomes are adversely affected by poverty, so funding has been directed at those schools and authorities with the highest levels of deprivation. In 2017-18, that will be extended to all schools that have children who are eligible for free school meals, which will extend the reach much more widely across Scotland.

Liz Smith (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con): I ask the cabinet secretary for some clarification on the point about free school meals. In primaries 1 to 3, all children are eligible for free school meals. Does he intend to use the existing measure for eligibility, or will some adjustment be made to that?

John Swinney: There is a well-established methodology for calculating entitlement to free school meals. That is one measure that the Government could use in this respect, and we set out in our manifesto that we would do that.

I have made it clear to interested parties that if there is viewed to be a more effective measurement to target resources to address deprivation, I am prepared to consider it. However, in the absence of any alternative, eligibility for free school meals is the most robust and reliable mechanism available to us to do that.

Teacher Training (Inclusive Education)

3. Ivan McKee (Glasgow Provan) (SNP): To ask the Scottish Government what its position is on making it mandatory to train teachers about inclusive education. (S5O-00183)

The Deputy First Minister and Cabinet Secretary for Education and Skills (John Swinney): The standard for full registration, which the General Teaching Council for Scotland manages, requires all teachers to show in their day-to-day practice a commitment to social justice, inclusion and caring for and protecting children. The Scottish Government will work with the General Teaching Council for Scotland to provide more support to teachers on equality issues by August 2017. In addition, we will require all new guidance teachers and promoted teachers-and eventually all teachers—to undertake training so that they are confident in tackling prejudice-based bullying in schools. We will ensure that schools address the important issues that lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and intersex young people face and that teachers have the skills, knowledge and confidence to embed inclusive approaches in their schools.

Ivan McKee: As the cabinet secretary will be aware, the Scottish Government's strategy is to issue LGBT-inclusive guidance to schools and local authorities, but there is no requirement for schools to deliver on that. There is clear evidence from the research by the time for inclusive education campaign that that approach has led to a situation in which some schools are LGBT inclusive and others are not. Will the Scottish Government advise us whether there are plans to rectify that and ensure that all schools deliver an LGBT-inclusive education?

John Swinney: I agree whole-heartedly with the aspiration that Ivan McKee set out in the latter part of his question. It is vital that every school in the country has the capability to ensure that LGBTI issues are dealt with properly and effectively, that young people who in any way experience such prejudice are supported and that unacceptable practice is tackled.

We address the issue mainly through the guidance that is made available to schools. The principal guidance in that regard is the relationships, sexual health and parenthood education material that is made available to schools.

The Government is reviewing our publication "A National Approach to Anti-Bullying for Scotland's Children and Young People". We want that guidance to be relevant and current for all schools. Wide dialogue is being undertaken with LGBTI groups to ensure that the work to review the guidance is effective and that it creates the approach that Mr McKee said has to be the case in every school in our country, on which I wholeheartedly agree with him.

Ross Thomson (North East Scotland) (Con): Research by the TIE campaign that was published earlier this month suggests that 90 per cent of LGBT pupils have experienced homophobia and 42 per cent have attempted to commit suicide. To follow on from the questions by Ivan McKee, given that mandatory training and guidance are given to schools on identifying radicalisation in the classroom, why cannot a similar mechanism for identifying homophobia and bullying in the classroom also be rolled out?

John Swinney: As I set out to Mr McKee and in answer to a topical question a couple of weeks ago, the approach is to ensure that schools are properly and fully equipped with trained personnel and have guidance so that such issues can be handled properly. It is intolerable that young people should face bullying of any description in our schools, and it is particularly intolerable that young people should experience homophobic bullying. The guidance that the Government issues and the approach that we take to teacher training are designed to ensure that that approach is taken in all schools in the country.

Monica Lennon (Central Scotland) (Lab): I welcome the commitment to roll out training by August 2017, but that is quite a long time away. We know that only 55 per cent of teachers are aware of the guidance that is in place. Today, the time for inclusive education campaign has a simple ask—it is looking for our help and asking MSPs to sign a campaign pledge. It takes a couple of seconds to do that on Twitter, and I am really pleased that members from across the chamber have already done so. Will education front benchers do the same today? That would send an important signal to the TIE campaign and to young people in the classroom.

John Swinney: I have put on record my position in relation to LGBTI issues and any form of bullying. I will look at the material that Monica Lennon has drawn to my attention. I reemphasise, from the education front bench, the Government's absolute determination to do everything that we can to support young people who are in any way affected by prejudice-based bullying and to ensure that we have the proper support in place in our schools to enable that to be the case.

Jeremy Balfour (Lothian) (Con): When the cabinet secretary looks at the guidelines and schemes, will he also look at bullying of disabled people in our schools? There seems to be underreporting of that form of bullying of people in the disabled community who have been mainstreamed. Many disability groups are concerned that that is going unreported and that teachers cannot give the appropriate education to those with obvious disability and hidden disability.

John Swinney: The points that I covered in my earlier answer are as relevant in dealing with Mr Balfour's question as they are to the issues for the LGBTI community. I said in my first answer that the Government is intolerant of any bullying and that we must ensure that schools are equipped to support young people who are in any way affected by that, whatever their circumstances and whatever excuse for the bullying is put forward.

I have seen in different schools tremendous empathy and support for young people with disabilities. Although I do not doubt the existence of the concerns that Mr Balfour has raised, I have also seen tremendous practice in our schools to support young people with disabilities and to ensure that they are assisted effectively in every way possible. However, I will certainly ensure that the guidance is comprehensive and effective and that it meets the needs of young people who are the victims of bullying, regardless of the excuse that is used for that bullying.

Student Support (European Union)

4. Gordon MacDonald (Edinburgh Pentlands) (SNP): To ask the Scottish Government what steps it is taking to help and support students from Scotland who want to study elsewhere in the European Union. (S5O-00184)

The Minister for Further Education, Higher Education and Science (Shirley-Anne Somerville): In 2014-15, we launched a pilot support Scotland-domiciled project to undergraduates to attend a number of universities in other European Union countries. Students who take part do not pay tuition fees and are entitled to apply for the same living cost support as those who study in Scotland. We also provide support for a small number of postgraduate students to study at selected European higher education institutions.

The Scottish Government continues to support the Erasmus plus programme and the British Council's International Association for the Exchange of Students for Technical Experience programmes.

Over the past four years, the Scottish Government has—with matched funding from universities, colleges and student associations—

invested more than £500,000 through its outward mobility fund to support 50 projects and more than 600 student places of varying duration and type in Europe, Canada, China, the USA and India.

Gordon MacDonald: The Scottish Government's portability pilot is due to run until the end of the academic year 2016-17. Constituents who have contacted the Student Awards Agency for Scotland have been informed that,

"because of possible constraints as a result of the EU referendum result, we cannot at present state our funding position for any new students starting undergraduate degrees from 2017-2018."

Given that Scotland-domiciled students who study at eligible European universities can apply for the same bursary and loan support as students who attend university in Scotland, what steps will the Government take to ensure that that very valuable link to Europe will remain open for future generations of young Scots?

Shirley-Anne Somerville: As I said, the pilot project is due to end with the 2016-17 intake of students, and we will then evaluate it. I make it clear that all students who are currently taking part, and those who are beginning an eligible course this year, will be supported to complete their whole course of studies. Before we confirm the continuation of the pilot, it is important that we assess the overall impact of the programme and its success. As part of that, we will look at the potential impact of Brexit on student mobility in Europe.

The member should at least be reassured that this Government continues to want Scottish students to play their full part in the European Union and to study and seek benefit from that, whatever the particular programme may be.

Tavish Scott (Shetland Islands) (LD): In pursuing that question, I encourage the minister to address the issue of college students with apprentice skills, more of whom will be needed. If Brexit happens in the way in which we believe it may happen, the number of apprentices that we need, particularly in the construction industry, will increase. Will the minister undertake to look into that with the relevant colleges to ensure that the growth in apprentices continues in order that we can meet the skills needs that are evident in industry throughout Scotland even now?

Shirley-Anne Somerville: Tavish Scott raises an important point about the implications of Brexit and the requirements for various parts of the economy, including the construction sector. Apprenticeships have played a very important part in the Scottish Government's commitment to its offerings for young people. We have made a commitment to increase the number of apprenticeships, and construction will play an

important part in that. I will take on board the points that Tavish Scott has made.

University Admissions (Equality)

5. Willie Coffey (Kilmarnock and Irvine Valley) (SNP): To ask the Scottish Government what action it takes to ensure that there is equality in admissions to university places for people who meet the entrance requirements. (S5O-00185)

The Minister for Further Education, Higher Education and Science (Shirley-Anne Somerville): autonomous institutions. As universities are ultimately responsible for their own admissions procedures and decisions. That said, we invest more than £51 million every year to support around 7,000 places that are targeted at disadvantaged learners and those progressing from college. We have welcomed the final report of the commission on widening access, which commented extensively on how admissions could be made fairer. We will continue to work closely with the university sector on how best to take forward the implementation of the commission's recommendations.

Willie Coffey: I understand that there is little or no centralised data showing where the successful and, in particular, the unsuccessful applicants who meet the entrance requirements for courses such as medicine, law and dentistry come from. Will the Government seek to address that as it takes forward the attainment agenda to ensure that equality of access is achieved?

Shirley-Anne Somerville: Although data on entrance to university by socioeconomic background is available, the commission on widening access recognised the need enhanced data and analysis on access. My officials are therefore working with the Scottish Further and Higher Education Funding Council to deliver the commission's recommendations for better monitoring of fair access at key stages of the learner journey, including applications, offers and acceptances to university. We are working closely with the sector and the funding council to progress the commission's recommendations on admissions. I hope that that will address Willie Coffey's concerns on that point.

Daniel Johnson (Edinburgh Southern) (Lab): The final report of the commission on widening access was widely welcomed across the chamber. With that in mind, can the minister confirm what steps have been taken to appoint a commissioner for fair access and when we might expect a commissioner to be in post?

Shirley-Anne Somerville: Appointing a commissioner was an important part of the commission's recommendations and the Government is keen to make an appointment. It

has to be the right appointment. We want somebody who can challenge not just the sector but the Government, so we are looking for someone who will independently scrutinise both the Government and what is happening in the wider university sector. We hope to make an appointment soon, but it is important that we speak to a number of people and continue to do so until we are sure that we have the right person to hold to account not only the Government but the rest of the sector.

Brexit (College Sector Implications)

6. Graeme Dey (Angus South) (SNP): To ask the Scottish Government what assessment it has made of the implications of Brexit for the college sector. (S5O-00186)

The Minister for Further Education, Higher Education and **Science** (Shirley-Anne Somerville): The Scottish Government is determined to protect our place in Europe and will explore all options to do so. The United Kingdom vote to leave the European Union presents a period of uncertainty for our education sector, including our colleges. The Scottish Further and Higher Education Funding Council and other partner bodies such as Skills Development Scotland are working to establish the potential impact on the sector in relation to EU funding, EU students and EU staff. We will also expect agencies to work with the college sector to explore opportunities to continue its relationship with Europe and to seek ways to mitigate the potential impacts at this time of great change.

Graeme Dey: The minister will be aware, from her recent visit there, of the success story that is Dundee and Angus College. However, the progress that has been made post-regionalisation faces being undermined by Brexit, with the college being confronted by the loss of £2 million of annual funding from the European social fund and the European regional development fund as a consequence of the UK leaving the EU. Are there any specific steps that the Scottish Government can take to try to protect the college sector from the ravages of Brexit?

Shirley-Anne Somerville: I very much enjoyed my visit to the college during the summer recess. I saw at first hand what is going on within the college on employability and I had a chance to speak to EU students while I was there.

Of course, our ability to fully assess the different options will be constrained until we start to gain some clarity about what the UK Government is seeking to achieve with Brexit. As I mentioned to the member, the funding council will work with both colleges and universities to assess the impact and I will continue to discuss those issues with colleges and universities to ensure that I am

fully appraised of the impact of the referendum result and how we can ensure that Scotland's colleges and universities remain attractive and enhance their competitiveness in a global education market.

Physical Education and Extracurricular Activity

7. **Brian Whittle (South Scotland) (Con):** To ask the Scottish Government what its position is on whether the provision of physical education and extracurricular activity in schools is encouraging children to lead active and healthy lifestyles. (S50-00187)

The Deputy First Minister and Cabinet Secretary for Education and Skills (John Swinney): Quality physical education provides children and young people with the fundamental competencies and skills that are necessary for lifelong participation in sport and physical activity. Ninety-eight per cent of primary and secondary schools across Scotland are now providing at least two hours or two periods of PE a week. That is a key part of our sport strategy for children and young people, giving children and young people a sporting chance in their future lives.

Brian Whittle: I thank the cabinet secretary for that answer. The reality is that there is a decreasing number of opportunities for all youngsters to participate, in that school PE has a very limited time allocated to it and, worryingly, is being squeezed out of the curriculum more and more. Time allocated to PE is advisory rather than compulsory and in many cases the school gates are shut at 4 pm and therefore access to facilities is cut off.

Increasingly, clubs have waiting lists and we are turning away many who are eager to take part. Will the Government look at opening up school facilities after school hours across the country to give children an accessible opportunity to get active?

John Swinney: The first thing that I would say to Mr Whittle is that I am a little perplexed by the doom-laden character of his question. I said in my initial answer that 98 per cent of primary and secondary schools across Scotland are providing at least two hours or two periods of PE a week. That is a significant improvement on what used to be the position in the country.

The second point that I would make is that Mr Whittle comes here and complains about the difficulties of school opening hours, but his party has been a great advocate of the private finance initiative. PFI arrangements for schools have been one of the significant factors restricting the availability and opening of schools, because of the restrictive nature of the contracts.

Thirdly, I witness across the country the tremendous amount of voluntary energy and enthusiasm that is given to encourage our young people to be active and healthy. Nobody obliges the primary school that my son attends to take part in the daily mile; it does it because of the enthusiasm and energy of the teaching staff. I know that Mr Whittle has a lot of interest in and enthusiasm for encouraging children to lead active and healthy lives, and I share his aspiration, but I encourage him to be slightly more positive in expressing his point of view.

Bob Doris (Glasgow Maryhill and Springburn) (SNP): My question relates to the daily mile. Can the cabinet secretary give an update on the progress in rolling out the daily mile not just to primary and other schools but also in pre-school provision, and can he say whether getting young people more physically active could address the attainment gap?

John Swinney: The Government is committed to Scotland becoming the first daily mile nation. Since the Cabinet Secretary for Education and Lifelong Learning and the Cabinet Secretary for Health and Sport wrote to all headteachers in Scotland in November 2015 to inform them of the initiative, at least 800 primary schools in Scotland—that is 41 per cent of the total number are now participating in the daily mile programme, adapting the basic idea to meet their own circumstances. I highlight to Mr Doris and to other members, including Mr Whittle, that in the period since November 2015, 41 per cent of primary schools in Scotland have adopted the daily mile or adapted it to their programme, which I think is a welcome indication of progress on physical activity in our schools.

Attainment Scotland Fund (Distribution)

8. Ross Thomson (North East Scotland) (Con): To ask the Scotlish Government what the mechanism will be for distributing moneys from the attainment Scotland fund to schools. (S5O-00188)

The Deputy First Minister and Cabinet Secretary for Education and Skills (John Swinney): During the first two years of the Scottish attainment challenge, we used the Scottish index of multiple deprivation, which is a long-established set of indicators that show levels of deprivation in communities across Scotland, to identify the authorities and schools with the greatest concentration of school-age children living in the 20 per cent most deprived areas in Scotland. This mechanism has been used to allocate funding through our existing challenge authorities and schools programme to more than 300 primary schools and 100 secondary schools across 21 local authorities.

We secured a mandate at the recent election to raise an additional £100 million per year, through our council tax reforms, specifically for raising educational attainment. Our manifesto proposed that that additional funding should be allocated directly to schools, based on eligibility for free school meals, from 2017-18. We are engaging local government representatives—the Convention of Scottish Local Authorities, the Association of Directors of Education in Scotland and the Society of Local Authority Chief Executives and Senior Managers—on the key principles underpinning that additional £100 million, and those discussions will inform the approach to determining eligibility and distribution of the funds.

Ross Thomson: Given that the money will be removed from council grants to be spent nationally elsewhere, what percentage of that funding will be spent in the north-east of Scotland, and can the cabinet secretary guarantee that disadvantaged pupils in the region will not lose out?

John Swinney: I say two things to Mr Thomson. First, all council tax income that is raised in all local authority areas will be retained in those local authority areas. Secondly, the mechanism that I set out in my answer—the utilisation of the eligibility for free school meals, which is a development of our existing position of using the Scottish index of multiple deprivation—is designed to ensure that we reach every young person who is living in poverty, so that they receive the support to which they are entitled regardless of the part of the country in which they live.

Kate Forbes (Skye, Lochaber and Badenoch) (SNP): Can the cabinet secretary provide reassurance to local authorities across Scotland that what they raise in council tax will stay in their local authority area?

John Swinney: I am happy to give that confirmation. All council tax revenue that is raised in all local authority areas will be retained in those local authority areas. That is the principle of local authority taxation, and that is what will continue after the reforms that we have undertaken.

Graham Simpson (Central Scotland) (Con): The cabinet secretary is saying exactly the same thing as Derek Mackay said last week.

John Swinney: Consistency.

Graham Simpson: Yes, it is consistent, but it is slightly misleading. It is accurate to say that councils will retain all of the council tax that they raise, but the money will be clawed back through a cut in grants. My question for Mr Swinney is, will the cut in grants in particular areas be more than is raised in council tax?

John Swinney: Mr Simpson has rather got the wrong end of the stick. The £100 million is going to be new revenue that is raised. It will be part of the council tax that is raised in every local authority area. As has been normal practice in all aspects of local government finance throughout all time—certainly, for all the time in which I have had anything to do with local authority finance—the level of revenue support grant for individual local authorities is a product of how much is raised in council tax and non-domestic rates in local authority areas.

Mr Simpson should be reassured that all the money that is raised in council tax in each local authority area will be retained in that local authority area. I hope that, as a consequence of that absolute clarity, he will be able to sleep a bit easier in his bed tonight.

Alex Rowley (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab): The point is that the Convention of Scottish Local Authorities is absolutely clear that we are seeing local finances being pulled back, with £100 million being taken away and distributed across Scotland. The Government is playing with words. The truth is that it is taking council tax money off local authorities, because it is taking £100 million of the grant and telling them that they can make up the shortfall by raising council tax. We have to have a degree of pulling together and working together in terms of transparency on this issue.

John Swinney: There are two specific parts in terms of the Government's commitments on local authority taxation. The first concerns the rebanding of the council tax and the extension of the bands, an order concerning which is currently being considered by Parliament. There is also the Government's manifesto commitment to enable local authorities to raise the council tax by 3 per cent, which is entirely separate from the process of the banding exercise. Derek Mackay and I were just talking about this issue with COSLA at one of our regular meetings this morning.

Two separate processes are under way. Mr Rowley has been the leader of a local authority in the past and he knows how local authority finances work. Revenue support grant is a product of the amount of revenue that is raised by local authorities in council tax and non-domestic rates, and is influenced by factors around how much revenue is generated from those two sources of local authority income.

Autism Support (Attainment Gap)

9. Bob Doris (Glasgow Maryhill and Springburn) (SNP): To ask the Scottish Government what contribution improving support at school for young children with autism will make towards meeting its ambition to close the educational attainment gap. (S5O-00189)

The Deputy First Minister and Cabinet Secretary for Education and Skills (John Swinney): Our ambition is to deliver equity and excellence for all children and young people, supporting them to reach their full potential, including those affected by autism. The Education (Additional Support for Learning) (Scotland) Act 2009 provides the legal framework for the identification of, provision for, and review of personalised support for children and young people who face barriers to learning, including those arising from autism.

In order to help schools meet the needs of those pupils, the Scottish Government has supported the development of "The Autism Toolbox: An Autism Resource for Scottish Schools". Published in 2014, the toolbox provides guidance on planning, pupil support and staff training, as well as sharing examples of best practice. The toolbox's online resource also provides a forum for continually updating and disseminating good practice.

Bob Doris: In recent months, a number of families in my constituency have raised with me concerns about the support that is available for their children, particularly as they transition from nursery school to primary 1, where a presumption of mainstreaming applies but is not always backed up with the support that is required. I am concerned that a lack of support might impact on the educational attainment of some of our most vulnerable children. I suspect that the situation is not isolated to Glasgow. As part of addressing the attainment gap, will the cabinet secretary review how local authorities provide such support for vulnerable children?

John Swinney: I certainly believe that the framework that we have in place, including the legislative framework of the 2009 act, should address exactly Mr Doris's point. I am obviously happy to look at any particular examples and experiences that he has to ensure that that is happening. Fundamentally, the Government and the public sector have an obligation to work to get it right for every child in Scotland. That means meeting the needs of young people, whatever their circumstances. Young people who have autism will have particular support requirements and, in fulfilling their responsibilities, all public authorities should take account of that within the legislative framework of the 2009 act.

If Mr Doris cares to write to me with any further detail, I would be happy to explore the issue on his behalf.

Education Governance Review

10. Lewis Macdonald (North East Scotland) (Lab): To ask the Scottish Government when it will provide an update on the progress of its education governance review. (S5O-00190)

The Deputy First Minister and Cabinet Secretary for Education and Skills (John Swinney): I launched the governance review on 13 September, and it will run until 6 January 2017.

The governance review is an opportunity to engage in a positive debate. We want to hear from children and young people, parents, teachers, practitioners and the wider community. We want to hear from those with a formal role in our education system and those who share a stake in its success.

I will of course update Parliament following the conclusion of the review to set out the Government's actions in relation to the consultation exercise.

Lewis Macdonald: The cabinet secretary will be well aware that the statutory responsibility for these matters lies with education authorities, and a number of those authorities in the north and northeast of Scotland are already working together to address joint concerns, particularly about the recruitment and retention of teachers. In looking at the issues, will the Government consider shifting the focus of its workforce planning from an approach that simply focuses on the national picture to one that focuses the needs of individual education authorities in meeting their objectives for the recruitment and retention of teaching staff?

John Swinney: Mr Macdonald raises a significant point. The experience of what has emerged as the northern alliance of authorities in part of the area that Mr Macdonald represents and into Highland and island communities is a welcome example of local authorities collaborating to find solutions to common problems. Teacher recruitment is one such issue, but there are others. Those authorities are also looking at ways enhancing educational provision as a consequence of collaboration between local authorities. That type of working is very much what is in my mind in relation to the issues that I raise in the consultation exercise around the regional education boards and the collaborations that we have talked about in that respect. That approach enables solutions to be developed that might, for example, meet the teacher recruitment challenges that we face in the north of Scotland.

Mr Macdonald raises a thoughtful point about the consultation and I look forward to hearing more from him and the authorities that he represents about that.

College Buildings (Condition Assessment)

11. Richard Leonard (Central Scotland) (Lab): To ask the Scotlish Government what recent assessment it has made of the condition of college buildings. (S5O-00191)

The Minister for Further Education, Higher Education and Science (Shirley-Anne Somerville): It is the responsibility of the Scottish Further and Higher Education Funding Council to advise ministers on the condition of college buildings. The SFC undertook an assessment of college estates in 2014 and refreshed that exercise earlier this year.

Richard Leonard: Audit Scotland has reported that Scotland's colleges face major funding challenges in financing capital improvements to their estate. The Scottish funding council study, to which the minister referred, looked at a third of the college sector and estimated that it would cost £256 million, or more than a quarter of a billion pounds, to bring those properties alone up to a decent standard. However, during the past four years, the Scottish Government has reduced its capital funding to colleges by more than 70 per cent-a drop from £90 million to £26.6 million. Does the minister agree that the staff and students of Scotland's colleges need decent buildings to teach and learn in? Will she reverse those capital cuts?

Shirley-Anne Somerville: Capital funding to the Scottish Government as a whole has fallen quite dramatically, given the Westminster austerity measures.

A dose of realism needs to be brought to the chamber. Every single time an Opposition member makes claims for capital and revenue against the Government, they should at least bring a bit of reality to the debate.

We have invested £550 million in the college estate between 2007 and 2015, and we have continued to support the further education sector by supporting more than £300 million-worth of investment in the non-profit-distributing pipeline.

The member will also have noticed that, in the programme for government announcement, colleges were awarded an additional £10 million of accelerated capital funding to help to improve existing estate. I would expect him to welcome that progress.

Local National Health Services

The Presiding Officer (Ken Macintosh): The next item of business is a debate on motion S5M-01677, in the name of Anas Sarwar, on protecting local national health services.

14:40

Anas Sarwar (Glasgow) (Lab): In my first speech in this Parliament, I spoke about my belief that the Parliament has been at its best when it has found common ground and when members across the chamber have come together to do what is right by their constituents and the country—when, whether on land reform or the smoking ban, parties have united in common cause.

This afternoon, members from all parties once again have the opportunity to put aside their party allegiance and political partisanship for the sake of their constituents. We all have the opportunity to stand shoulder to shoulder with patient groups across Scotland who are fighting to save valued local NHS services. When we speak as individuals, none of us does so as powerfully as the collective voice of this Parliament. That is why I strongly believe that we can and should speak with one voice when it comes to protecting and defending the services that our constituents rely on

John Mason (Glasgow Shettleston) (SNP): Would the member say that we should never close any hospital or facility? Surely we should put more effort into preventative spend that will help people in the community before they have to go to hospital.

Anas Sarwar: Of course we should put more money into preventative spend, but John Mason's intervention is interesting. He had an opportunity to intervene to say that he believes that we should protect the hospital that protects his constituents, but instead he chose to make a different point. It is important to stand up and represent the individuals, families and communities who sent us to this place to represent them.

I want to talk briefly about what constitutes a major service change, because it is certainly not clear or consistent. Given that, rightly, the removal of a children's ward is deemed to be a major service change, how can the closure of a whole hospital be deemed minor?

The Scottish Government's amendment references the role of the Scottish Health Council in what constitutes a major service change, but its guidance is clear. It states:

"The decision on whether a service change should be regarded as major ultimately rests with Scottish Ministers."

Furthermore, the Scottish Government's own quidance states that health boards should

"seek advice from the Scottish Government Health Directorate ... on whether a service change is considered to be major".

It continues:

"for those that are, Ministerial approval on the Board's decision will be required."

That is an important point. In our system, the Cabinet Secretary for Health and Sport is responsible for the health service. The buck stops with Shona Robison, and she is accountable to this Parliament. That is why it is vital that the cabinet secretary calls in the proposals, so that all members of this Parliament, representing their different communities and constituencies, can ensure that all the various voices are heard.

That is what was reflected in the proposed Liberal Democrat amendment, which was not selected. I support its sentiment. It set out the importance of democratic accountability and responsibility in our health service, which the Government seeks to avoid in its amendment. Indeed, I would go further and say that it would be a democratic outrage if we allowed health boards to proceed with these decisions without individual members, this Parliament or indeed the cabinet secretary having a say.

Ministers should be free to say whether they do or do not support the proposed changes. What is particularly frustrating for campaigners is that the cabinet secretary is saying nothing at all. Her position is spectacularly unclear. If the cabinet secretary opposes any of the proposed changes, she should say so and thereby remove the concerns of local families and campaigners.

The Cabinet Secretary for Health and Sport (Shona Robison): Is the member saying that for those service change proposals that are major and that will come to me, I should say at the moment whether I support them or not, although I will have to make a decision on them? Is that not a bit silly?

Anas Sarwar: What is silly is the cabinet secretary's intervention. If the cabinet secretary opposes, as she said she did prior to the election, any of these service changes, she should be brave enough to say so. Conversely, if the cabinet secretary supports any of the proposed changes, she should be brave enough to come to the chamber and openly say so and to make the case for why the changes will not impact on patient care. There are members of the campaign groups in the public gallery, watching this debate. Perhaps the cabinet secretary should reflect on that when she makes any further interventions.

I do not believe that voters would ever forgive any minister or, indeed, any member who

sidestepped their responsibility to step in and show their support for their local services. [Interruption.]

It seems that the cabinet secretary wants to intervene again. I will happily take another intervention in which she can say that she will protect local services and which ones she will keep.

Shona Robison: I will make the difficult decisions on proposals for major service changes that come to me, but what I will not do is prejudge them. I have not seen the clinical evidence on proposals that might come to me. When they come to me, I will make the decision. That is the process that we have. It is long established in this place and is one that I will follow.

Anas Sarwar: I thank the cabinet secretary for that intervention because it is actually very helpful. She is saying that she might support proposals to close services and that the promises that were made before the election were not true. She has the ability to designate the proposed changes as major service changes and call them in, because ultimate responsibility lies with the cabinet secretary. However, instead of doing that, she is hiding behind faceless health boards. She should use the powers that she has and not duck and dive, and hide and say "It wisnae me."

All of us, whatever our party allegiances, owe our place in this chamber to the public. Every one of us was elected as their voice to speak up and stand up for them. That is why we are urging support for Labour's motion to ensure that all the proposals from the respective health boards are deemed major service changes and are called in by the cabinet secretary for decision. We seek the support of Parliament to ensure that the Cabinet Secretary for Health and Sport has the final decision on what are clearly major service changes and to ensure today that our constituents have their voice heard in the Parliament.

We now have it in black and white from the health boards that the proposed downgrades or closures involve maternity services at the Vale of Leven hospital; the children's ward at the Royal Alexandra hospital; maternity services at Inverclyde hospital; orthopaedics at Monklands hospital, in Airdrie; the Lightburn hospital, in the east end of Glasgow; in-patient beds at the centre for integrative care at Gartnavel hospital; and the centralisation of cleft palate services away from Edinburgh.

I am sure that other members will want to cover each proposal in more detail. However, before moving on, I welcome to the public gallery representatives of several of the local campaign groups, including Gerry McCann of the save Lightburn hospital campaign; Catherine Hughes of the centre for integrative care campaign; Evonne McLatchie of the cleft services campaign; Susan Archibald of the Vale of Leven save our services campaign; and Carole-Anne Davidson from the kids need our ward—KNOW—campaign for the Royal Alexandra hospital.

Those people are not interested in day-to-day political squabbles or partisan politics. [Interruption.] I am sorry that the cabinet secretary is tutting at that comment about people who are her constituents. She should show some respect for her own constituents. I know that she does not respect the chamber, but she should at least show respect for the constituents whom she seeks to represent, because they do not want us to squabble in the Parliament; they want their politicians to work together to protect their local services.

I will turn briefly to each service. Lightburn hospital is a specialist unit that provides rehabilitative care for older patients. It includes specialist units for stroke and post-trauma patients plus a day hospital and out-patient clinics. For some reason, the plan to close it is not significant enough to merit being a major change—[Interruption.] If the cabinet secretary wants to say that it does, that will be good.

Shona Robison: Anas Sarwar has just made a factually incorrect statement. No decision has been made yet on whether what will happen at Lightburn will constitute major service change. He is factually incorrect, and he should be accurate in the things that he says in the chamber.

Anas Sarwar: I am happy to pass to the cabinet secretary the board paper, if she has not read it, that makes it clear that the board regards the change as a minor service change. If she disagrees with the health board, perhaps she should tell it and call in the proposal. She can do that today.

The centre for integrative care, which is currently an in-patient service that delivers holistic care to patients, was said to be a national resource by the Minister for Mental Health, Maureen Watt, and the former Cabinet Secretary for Health and Wellbeing, Alex Neil. I had the pleasure of visiting the centre last Friday, and I heard at first hand from clinicians, nurses and patients about the difference that the in-patient service makes to them and the impacts if it closed. Again, that is not deemed to be a major service change.

At Monklands hospital, the plans are to remove not just trauma orthopaedics, but all in-patient orthopaedics. A little under two weeks ago, I attended a public meeting in Coatbridge at which not a single Scottish National Party or health board representative turned up. If they had done so, they would have felt the unanimous strength of feeling in support of their local services.

Let us be clear about what the changes would mean to Monklands. They are major service changes. In the words of Lanarkshire NHS Board:

"This will be a major change in the configuration of several key acute specialties (including critical care, general surgery, orthopaedics and rehabilitation)."

Alex Neil (Airdrie and Shotts) (SNP): Will the member give way?

Anas Sarwar: I am happy to give way to the cabinet secretary. I hope that he will use the opportunity to say that he will support the motion.

Alex Neil: I am not the cabinet secretary. The member needs to get his facts right. I am the excabinet secretary.

On Monklands, the member said earlier that everybody should speak with one voice, but the Labour Party does not speak with one voice. The Labour leader of North Lanarkshire Council has publicly given unqualified and total support to the health board's proposals. How is it that he is in favour of them, but the Labour Party is supposed to be speaking with one voice? People cannot speak with one voice inside the Labour Party, never mind everybody else.

Anas Sarwar: The SNP is not speaking with one voice. It tells communities that their hospitals are safe and says in the chamber that it has not made a decision yet. That is not speaking with one voice; it is speaking with a forked tongue.

We and the motion are very clear. We expect a major service change at Monklands hospital, and we want that proposal to be called in and rejected. Again, the final decision will lie with the cabinet secretary.

On Inverclyde hospital, the Presiding Officer has seen before the front page of the *Greenock Telegraph*. Shortly before the election, no less a person than the First Minister guaranteed that the maternity services at Inverclyde hospital were safe. The cabinet secretary might want to say again that the decision on that has not been made yet, but the First Minister's comments are pretty clear. Again, that was a proposal for closure that was not regarded as a major change.

The Royal Alexandra hospital has already been mentioned, and there can hardly be a more important issue than the future of children's services at the RAH, which treats 8,000 children every year. Given that those changes are already recognised as major changes, nothing stands in the way of members joining colleagues and supporting our motion. That again demonstrates the Government's inconsistency of approach when it comes to NHS cuts.

I am sure that at least one constituency MSP, irrespective of party allegiance, will put aside party loyalty, stand on the side of their constituents and be a true champion of their local NHS. I hope that others will follow Jackie Baillie's example. Today, she will put her constituents first and vote to protect maternity services at the Vale of Leven hospital. Again, despite previous promises, that change has not been designated as a major service change.

In conclusion, I reach out across the chamber to other constituency MSPs who are affected by the proposals. We have an opportunity to put aside our party allegiances and work together to protect our local NHS services. I reach out to Ivan McKee—I am not sure whether he is even in the chamber—

Members: He is.

Anas Sarwar: I am sorry; I did not see him. I reach out to Ivan McKee, who has made commitments to fight to save Lightburn hospital. If he is sincere in that commitment, I hope that he votes with us today.

I hold out the hand of friendship to Stuart McMillan and ask him to work with us to protect maternity services at Inverclyde Royal hospital. I say to George Adam and Tom Arthur: do not vote for an amendment that takes out all mention of the RAH. Instead, join with us today to save RAH paediatric services.

I appeal to Bill Kidd. I know that he is a whip—the chief whip, no less—but his first responsibility is surely to his constituents, so I urge him to support his constituents by supporting our motion to save the CIC in-patient services in his constituency.

I know that in Alex Neil's heart, he would like to support the motion. He is a rebel at heart, and I ask him to let that inner rebel come out today and work with us to save orthopaedic services at Monklands hospital.

Our motion is clear; Labour is clear: we want the services to be designated as major service changes, called in by the cabinet secretary and rejected. Many MSPs in this chamber stood on the banner "Standing up for Scotland". Today they have an opportunity. Will they stand up for their communities and for our NHS?

I move,

That the Parliament notes the widespread public concern over proposals to downgrade valued local services, including maternity services at the Vale of Leven Hospital, paediatric services at the Royal Alexandra Hospital, maternity services at Inverclyde Hospital, trauma orthopaedics at Monklands Hospital, inpatient services at the Centre for Integrative Care, cleft palate services at the Royal Hospital for Sick Children and the closure of the Lightburn Hospital; believes that all these proposals

constitute major changes in service provision, and therefore calls on the Scottish Government to call in these proposals, as set out by NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde, NHS Lanarkshire and NHS Lothian, for ministerial decision.

14:56

The Cabinet Secretary for Health and Sport (Shona Robison): The debate provides a timely opportunity to acknowledge the commitment and dedication of health and social care staff across the whole of Scotland; to reflect on our record of protecting and enhancing local services; and to comment on the actions being taken to ensure that Scotland's NHS continues to be world class. I welcome local people to the gallery.

Turning to the Labour motion, I think that it would be helpful to state the facts as initially set out in response to Jackie Baillie's members' business debate on the same issues on 13 September. First, no final decisions have been made about the service change proposals mentioned. NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde formalised its proposals at its board meeting in August and, as we would expect, is now in the process of engaging with the affected local communities, staff and other stakeholders in order to carefully consider their views.

encourage local people their and representatives to play a full part in the process. The proposals may well change in the light of the results of that process, which will take the form of three months of public engagement, running from September until November, on the proposals relating to the CIC, community maternity units and Lightburn hospital. It will help to inform the health board's on-going work with the independent Scottish Health Council, which includes coming to a view on which of the service changes should be considered major. The board will reconvene following that work, probably at its meeting planned for December, and will then agree the next steps.

Anas Sarwar: Will the cabinet secretary give way?

Shona Robison: In a minute; I know that Anas Sarwar is keen.

Should any of the final proposals be designated as major, the board must undertake formal public consultation of at least three months, and its final service change proposals will be subject to ministerial approval.

Anas Sarwar: The cabinet secretary is right. I am keen.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: I beg your pardon, Mr Sarwar—just a minute.

Anas Sarwar: I am keen to protect NHS services. The independent SHC's guidance clearly

states that ultimate responsibility lies with ministers. If the cabinet secretary can instruct it that the proposals are major service changes and call them in, why will she not do so?

Shona Robison: The process is established and robust, and is informed by the work of the SHC. When I come to make the decisions, I want to know what the SHC thinks. When the board comes to make its decisions, it wants to know what the SHC thinks.

The SHC was set up by statute in 2005 in this Parliament to provide independent oversight in the key area of patient focus and public engagement. The Labour motion quite inappropriately asks Parliament to cut across the vital work of the SHC, which should be allowed to get on with its job and with fulfilling the duties that this Parliament ascribed to it. What is the point of having the SHC if we do not allow it to get on with its work?

Stuart McMillan (Greenock and Inverciyde) (SNP): Thank you very much for taking an intervention, cabinet secretary.

NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde, in its consultation proposals for the IRH birthing unit, thus far has not suggested a public meeting. I have asked for a public meeting in Inverclyde so that the birthing unit issues can be fully addressed. Does the cabinet secretary agree that we should do that?

Shona Robison: I look forward to having as much public engagement as is possible, including public meetings and other ways of engaging. I think that that is important.

I return to the service change proposals. In the case of the plans to transfer paediatric in-patient and day cases from the Royal Alexandra hospital in Paisley to the new Royal hospital for children, NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde will discuss the next steps at its meeting in October. The board has already been clear that, should it move to proceed with those paediatric proposals, that would represent major service change and therefore it would come to me for decision.

With regard to the trauma orthopaedic services at Monklands hospital, NHS Lanarkshire—supported by the Academy of Medical Royal Colleges and Faculties in Scotland—has been clear that the interim changes are necessary to ensure the safety, quality and resilience of local services. I have been assured that the interim plans will not materially impact on the provision of accident and emergency services at any of the three main hospitals in Lanarkshire. The health board has repeatedly given assurances that it is committed to retaining three district general hospitals with full A and E departments as part of its longer-term plans. Those longer-term plans will constitute major change and, as such, are now

subject to formal public consultation; they will come to me for decision. I encourage all local stakeholders to play a full part in the consultation in order to help shape the future of those local services.

Elaine Smith (Central Scotland) (Lab): Will the cabinet secretary take an intervention?

Shona Robison: Briefly.

Elaine Smith: Having just said what she did about public consultation, will the cabinet secretary comment on the fact that trauma orthopaedics is being removed? I consider that a major service change, with the decision having been taken during the recess with no public consultation.

Shona Robison: I have just explained that that is an interim solution based on patient safety, but the longer-term plans are a major service change that has to come to me. It is very clear and straightforward.

If any politician would stand by in the face of being told that a service is not safe, we would all have to take responsibility for a decision to ignore clinical advice. It is very clear that the interim proposals are based on patient safety advice, and we have to listen very seriously to that.

The Labour motion refers to cleft palate services at the Royal hospital for sick children in Edinburgh. Ministers are fully aware of the strength of feeling from those who oppose the recommendation to consolidate cleft surgery in Glasgow. There are very strong views on both sides.

Daniel Johnson (Edinburgh Southern) (Lab): Will the cabinet secretary take an intervention?

Shona Robison: Not just now.

I want to be clear that the Government has been given an assurance that the proposed changes relate only to cleft surgery. Nonetheless, they remain proposals and no decision has been made. As the Minister for Public Health and Sport made clear in the members' business debate on that subject on 7 September—

Daniel Johnson: Will the cabinet secretary take an intervention?

Shona Robison: Not just now.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: Mr Johnson, please take your seat.

Shona Robison: Ministers will have the final say, and our decision will be informed by planned visits that I am undertaking to both Edinburgh and Glasgow to visit the cleft surgery teams and hear their views first hand.

Daniel Johnson: Has the cabinet secretary seen the same figures that I have seen? They

would indicate that the surgical outcomes in the Edinburgh unit are better than those that are achieved in the Glasgow unit.

Shona Robison: I will take into account all the information; that is why I am making the visits. I will take into account all the information that is presented to me before I make a decision. That is the right way to make decisions that are important to a lot of people. That is the right way to make decisions.

The possibility that some or all of those service change proposals may change as a result of the public engagement that is under way, and that some—or indeed all—of them may ultimately be subject to ministerial approval, means that it would be inappropriate for me to discuss the specifics in any detail today and to say whether or not I support them. If I am making the final decision on them, of course I will wait for the information and the evidence to be brought to me.

I want to be clear that this Government remains committed to robust, evidence-based policy making, as set out in our national clinical strategy. [Interruption.]

The Deputy Presiding Officer: Mr Sarwar, I am not keen on props.

Shona Robison: The member should raise his game and respect the people in the public gallery, as he said earlier.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: Mr Sarwar, I have already indicated.

Shona Robison: Underpinning that is our long-term commitment to secure local services and develop specialised services when necessary. I am prepared to take difficult decisions where the evidence supports it. However, where change is advocated, we must ensure that the local boards work with all stakeholders to make the case. We will not countenance change being dictated to local communities, as happened in the past under Mr Sarwar's Administration.

I reiterate that local people can be assured that this Government will always focus its approach on providing as many services as locally as possible. Our record in government stands in stark contrast to that of the previous Administration. That can be seen in Nicola Sturgeon coming to Parliament to save the A and E departments at Monklands and Ayr hospitals, or in our protecting the damaging uncertainty of the previous Labour-led Administration that Jackie Baillie served in when the Vale of Leven hospital was under serious threat of closure.

Jackie Baillie (Dumbarton) (Lab): Will the member give way?

The Deputy Presiding Officer: The cabinet secretary is in her last minute. Please sit down, Ms Baillie

Shona Robison: The vision for the Vale has saved that local hospital. We will make sure that those services that would have been lost under the previous proposals are improved. Of course, the local hospital has seen a big improvement and increase in the number of patients using its facilities.

I note that Opposition parties constantly call for increased investment in primary and community care and say that they support shifting the balance of care—the Tories said that only last week. At the same time, they come and seek to oppose each and every proposed change—even where changes are not proposed—in acute services.

Collectively, we will have to come to some decisions about whether politicians in this Parliament will argue against any change, anywhere, ever happening in our NHS now or in the future. If that were to be the case, the shift in the balance of care and the increased investment in primary care—as called for by the Tories only last week—will be made all the more difficult to achieve.

I reiterate this Government's commitment to the delivery of high-quality, sustainable health and social care services. Where there are proposals for major service change in the NHS, they must be subject to formal public consultation and, ultimately, ministerial approval. I do not shirk my responsibility in doing that whatsoever. Local people can be assured that, in all such cases, ministers take into account all the available information and representations before coming to a final decision. That is a proper and responsible way to run our health service.

I move amendment S5M-01677.1, to leave out from "the widespread public concern" to end and insert:

"that no decisions have been made in respect of current service change proposals from NHS boards; welcomes the Scottish Government's record of protecting local services, including saving the A and E departments in Monklands and Ayr, ending a decade of damaging uncertainty in 2009 by approving the Vision for the Vale of Leven Hospital, and securing inpatient paediatric services at St John's Hospital in line with the independent report from the Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health; recognises that there is an established process around service change in the NHS, and that the decision about whether a particular service change is deemed major is one that is taken in consultation with the independent Scottish Health Council, which was established in statute in 2005 to support and advise NHS boards and to quality-assure the public involvement process; endorses the National Clinical Strategy, which was published in February 2016, with its aim to provide more care where people need it and with as much care as possible delivered locally, and remains committed to maintaining and improving safe and effective local services across Scotland."

15:07

Donald Cameron (Highlands and Islands) (Con): I am delighted to be here discussing health again on a Wednesday afternoon, and hope that it becomes a regular occurrence. I do not say that flippantly. Following my party's debate on health in the chamber last week, it is right that we subject this Government's record on health to frequent and effective scrutiny; it is right that the NHS is a running theme.

We will support the Labour motion. I accept that, technically, it is somewhat premature because, as it stands, the proposals have not reached the point at which the Government requires to take a decision about whether the proposals would be major service changes. However, clearly there is a wider public interest at stake here that transcends that point on process, so we are happy to lend our support to the motion and call for the procedure to be expedited and for the specific proposals to be called in now.

The wider public interest is manifested in the widespread concern over the various proposed service changes.

Shona Robison: Will the member give way?

Donald Cameron: Not yet.

That concern is obvious in the levels of support that public campaigns against the closures have reached. To name but a couple, nearly 2,000 people have signed a petition against the proposed changes to Vale of Leven and more than 6,000 have done the same against the proposed closure of Edinburgh's cleft palate unit.

It is our fundamental belief that, given the public concern and the controversy surrounding the proposals, they should all be classified as major service changes, so that the SNP Government takes responsibility for the decisions and can be held to account.

I hope that we would all agree that blanket opposition to any change in the NHS would be impossible and, indeed, irresponsible. The NHS can never be static. The British Medical Association warns today that the NHS is

"not sustainable in its current form and action needs to be taken now."

Shona Robison: Will the member give way?

Donald Cameron: No. hold on.

We accept that tough decisions have to be taken, even when they are not popular; a strong, responsible Opposition recognises that. What is difficult to fathom is the approach of a Government that is content merely to do nothing.

The Government continually reinforces the point that the NHS needs to be more community orientated. We hear that, among its priorities for the coming year, is

"to empower a truly community health service"

and to

"deliver the reforms needed for successful community health services."—[Official Report, 21 September 2016; c 31,32.]

With those aims in mind, it is understandable why so many people will be puzzled that the Scottish Government's idea of delivering more community health services is to sit on its hands in the midst of controversial proposals that, if they are enacted, will see communities lose services, not gain them.

Just as we did in the debate last week, we urge the Government to take responsibility or, at the very least, to take a view. It is only right that, in all cases in which important services are at risk of closure, the SNP Government should step forward and make its position clear.

Having dealt with correspondence on some of the issues, I know that people—many of whom are here today—want to know simply where the Government stands. The proposals are so controversial and serious that it is not good enough for the Government to float indifferently above the fray. Let me give one example. We have asked countless questions about the centre for integrative care and its future in general. Where does the Government stand? What consideration has been given to central funding? What discussions have been had? What is the Government's position? The only answer that has been forthcoming is that those are matters for the health board—the Government has again washed its hands.

I argue that the proposals could be classified as major service changes, using the Scottish Health Council's own guidelines. We know from those guidelines what major service change is and that the decision ultimately rests with ministers. Not only that, but there is ample evidence on the ground to support that classification. For example, as I said during the debate about the Vale of Leven maternity unit, closure of that service would force women in labour to travel an extra hour from Dunbartonshire and Argyll and Bute to facilities in Glasgow and Paisley. That could constitute a change in the accessibility of services and thus qualify as a major service change.

Plans to close the Lightburn hospital would mean that elderly patients and stroke patients would have to travel to the Queen Elizabeth university hospital, putting pressure on that hospital; that could constitute "Consequences for other services" and thus qualify as a major service change.

There is a historical precedent for ministerial intervention in the proposals for the Vale of Leven and Lightburn hospitals. Both were the subject of proposed changes in 2008 and 2010, respectively, which were similar to the changes that are proposed now. Those proposals were deemed to be major service changes then, so why are they not now? I could go on. The facts support the proposals being major service changes.

In any event, the Government can intervene further down the track—again, there is historical precedent, which the Government's amendment mentions. The SNP Government was more than happy to intervene 10 years ago when there was a proposal to close the Ayr and Monklands accident and emergency units. As soon as the SNP took office in 2007, the current First Minister, as health secretary, immediately stepped in, overturned the decision and set up an independent review of the processes that had been carried out by the health boards. If the Government could intervene then, it can intervene in the future.

Elaine Smith: Does the member recall that those proposals, which I did not agree with and spoke out against, were based on what the health board said were safety reasons?

Donald Cameron: I cannot recall that, as I was not a member of the Parliament at the time. The point that I am making is that Nicola Sturgeon intervened in that decision and did so again in 2010 in the face of the health board's recommendation to close Lightburn hospital. She said:

"The government has a policy of maintaining local access to healthcare services where it is appropriate to do so, and where it is in patients' best interests. It is my view ... that local people's interests are best served by maintaining Lightburn Hospital and its healthcare services."—[Written Answers, 19 December 2011; S4W-04640.]

If the Government could intervene then to save local services, it can intervene in the future.

Last week, we highlighted the major staffing crisis that exists in our NHS and social care services. We told the Scottish Government that there are still major gaps in general practice, nursing and midwifery. We revealed the spiralling locum costs in our NHS and spoke out for Scotland's social care sector. We also suggested solutions such as investing 10 per cent of NHS spending in general practice by 2020.

Shona Robison: Will the member give way? **Donald Cameron:** I am in my last minute.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: Yes, thank you, Mr Cameron. You are in your last minute.

Donald Cameron: There is a clear link to be drawn between this debate and last week's debate. One of the reasons that was given by NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde for removing the facilities is the lack of staffing, and we know that in other hospitals throughout Scotland the shortage of staff directly affects the provision of services. I repeat the example that I gave in my maiden speech of my local hospital in the Highlands, where there have been no scanning facilities for pregnant mothers since 2013 because there has been no ultrasonographer. Short staffing has huge implications for local services, and I have no hesitation in laying the responsibility for that at the door of the SNP Government, as I did last week.

It is clear to me that the Scottish Government must be held to account for the proposals. We believe that they represent major changes in service provision and should be called in for review, with their final approval resting with the cabinet secretary. For that reason, we will support the motion.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: We move to the open debate. I will not embarrass the members concerned, but three of you have not pressed your request-to-speak buttons. You cannot be called if your button has not been pressed.

15:15

Maree Todd (Highlands and Islands) (SNP): I declare an interest in that I am a pharmacist, registered with the General Pharmaceutical Council, and until my election in May I was employed by NHS Highland.

In its briefing for today's debate, the Royal College of Nursing Scotland said that, to ensure the longer-term sustainability of services and meet the needs of an ageing population in the future, health boards need to do things differently. RCN Scotland has been saying over the past year that urgent transformational change is needed. Its briefing went on to say:

"To achieve this vision, politicians, professionals and the public must be prepared for transformational change and all stakeholders involved with the changes will need to put vested interests to one side and work together to deliver the changes which are so urgently needed."

I hope that we can achieve that in this debate.

As I understand it, no decisions have been made about the service change proposals that are mentioned in Anas Sarwar's motion. Rather than address proposals that are still at an early consultation stage, I will take the opportunity to look more generally at why we need to transform hospital care.

The Scottish Government is committed to evidence-based policy making, as set out in the national clinical strategy. There is an overwhelming amount of evidence that complex operations are best performed in more specialist settings. There is increasing evidence that teams that specialise in doing complex operations frequently get better outcomes for patients, who tend to have fewer side effects and spend less time in hospital.

We understand that we need to adapt to meet future demand. In doing so, we can make the best use of the skilled staff and technology that we have. We have much more complete evidence about the connection between volumes and outcomes—we know that the more often a team does a procedure, the better are the results that it gets. That evidence is pushing a need to plan for some procedures on a population level rather than at a health board level.

Some procedures are becoming exceedingly high-tech, such as robotic surgery, and need to be concentrated in relatively few sites to make the best use of skilled staff and specialist equipment.

By using telemedicine for virtual consultations, as we often do in the Highlands and Islands, we can reduce the burden of travel and ensure that high-quality care is given in remote and rural locations. A couple of weeks ago, I spoke to a surgeon at Raigmore hospital who regularly holds out-patient consultations by telephone, which saves his patients several days of travel in from the islands.

There are always pressures to stick with the status quo, but it is wise for us at least to consider whether the current service configuration offers the best possible service provision.

Elaine Smith: Is the member aware that much of what she is saying in her well-delivered speech was in the Kerr report of 2005, which was a precursor to health boards making the wrong decisions to downgrade A and E services at Monklands and Ayr hospitals?

Maree Todd: Wisdom's being long held does not make it any less relevant.

There are plenty of examples from history. Years ago, general practitioners performed emergency surgery in small community hospitals. No one would advocate such an approach now.

In the summer, members of the Health and Sport Committee visited the Golden Jubilee national hospital—I did not personally visit. The Golden Jubilee foundation is an example of a new model of service provision that has been extremely successful. The hospital has expanded year on year to meet the health demands of Scotland's population. It is responsible for

delivering more than 25 per cent of Scottish hip and knee replacements and up to 18 per cent of cataract operations for the whole country. That is in addition to the thousands of patients with acute and long-term conditions who are treated through the heart and lung unit, which is one of the largest in the United Kingdom. The Golden Jubilee is the only hospital in Scotland to carry out heart transplants.

Innovation and participation in active research are core to the hospital's success. Some of the programmes that have been developed there, such as the enhanced recovery service in orthopaedics, have been adopted all over Scotland and across much of Europe.

The hospital's outcomes are excellent. It has some of the lowest complications rates in the country and boasts the UK's fastest door-to-balloon time for patients who require primary percutaneous coronary intervention.

As someone who represents a rural constituency from which people often have to travel long distances for hospital care, I appreciate the provision of a hotel on site. That may seem trivial but, if people have to travel for healthcare, as we in the Highlands often do, making it easy for our nearest and dearest to travel too is helpful.

I will reiterate why so many health professionals and policy makers are prompting us to consider a change in acute hospital services. Such a change has the potential to significantly improve outcomes—that is the main driver. The new technology that we use nowadays in modern medicine dictates the need to have centres of excellence for more complex interventions. We have said many times that, as our population ages, there will be increasing volumes of elective procedures for cataracts and joint replacements, and there are pressures in recruiting highly skilled staff.

If we can find a way to deliver hospital care more efficiently, we can focus our attention on locally delivered primary and community health services to better meet the needs of our ageing population, who will have multiple long-term conditions, and to tackle health inequality. That is why the Royal College of Nursing says that Scotland must look at different ways of delivering services.

Let us hear what the health boards have to say about service redesign, let us consult and listen to both the staff and the local population and let us follow due process.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: I call Jackie Baillie, who has a tight six minutes.

15:21

Jackie Baillie (Dumbarton) (Lab): No one in the chamber can be in any doubt about the importance of the Vale of Leven hospital to me and all my constituents. It will therefore come as no surprise that I will focus on the Vale of Leven community maternity unit.

Maternity services are the beating heart of any hospital. Nothing quite surpasses the cry of a newborn baby and the joy of a new life and a new family. The majority of women give birth without a great deal of intervention, other than perhaps pain relief. Of course specialist services are needed but, as ever, the issue is where the balance is struck.

I say to the cabinet secretary that I will take on any Government of any political hue that threatens the Vale of Leven hospital—she knows that. She also knows that I supported the Scottish Government when it brought forward the "Vision for the Vale of Leven Hospital", which contained commitments to deliver a wide range of services at the local hospital. The cabinet secretary knows that, despite the vision being in place, staff numbers have dropped dramatically and a substantial number of clinics have been cancelled. Nevertheless, the vision remains an important commitment for people in my community and I support it.

The community midwifery unit was so important for the Vale vision that it was pictured on the document's front page. The exact wording of the commitment was:

"The Community Maternity Unit will be sustained and promoted".

That is the very same maternity unit as is up for closure today.

The health board says that the unit is up for closure because the numbers have dropped, and indeed they have. However, I ask members to please look a little closer. Between 2009 and now, the overall number of women from my area giving birth has dropped by 8 per cent, but the number giving birth at the maternity unit has fallen by nearly 70 per cent, which is a shocking difference. That tells me that the health board has not been serious about marketing the CMU.

When I consulted GP practices, I found out that some did not even know about posters or leaflets. Key to the problem is the fact that bookings had been taken out of GPs' hands and centralised in a telephone line by the health board. Since that happened, numbers have declined. The health board is closing the unit by stealth. The problem has been entirely manufactured by the health board in order to close the unit, and the cabinet secretary must not be fooled by that.

The health board has not committed to a full and formal public consultation with my community. Instead, we are to have an engagement strategy that is based on a consultation that was undertaken a decade ago. The health board cannot be serious. We need a full community consultation so that everybody has an opportunity to make their voice heard.

In advance of the election, the cabinet secretary popped through every door in my constituency on a leaflet that said:

"I will not approve any move away from the Vision for the Vale commitment".

I say three cheers to that. I want to believe her, and my community wants to believe her; indeed, we all want to believe that she will keep her promises.

The proposed cut, like the other cuts that have been described today—to the maternity unit at Inverclyde, to Lightburn hospital, to the centre for integrative care and to the Royal Alexandra hospital—is so important that it must be designated as a major service change.

Shona Robison: Will the member give way?

Jackie Baillie: Let me explain why that designation is so important, and then I will be happy to bring in the cabinet secretary.

If the changes are designated as major service changes, they will end up on the cabinet secretary's desk. That is important to me and my community because it would mean that the health board did not have the final say. It is important for accountability and democracy. I want the health board to be accountable to the cabinet secretary and in turn for her to be accountable to the Parliament. I hope that she agrees that that is a fundamental matter of democracy.

Shona Robison: As I said earlier, that might well end up being the case, because no decision has been made about whether the proposal constitutes a major change. However, will Jackie Baillie acknowledge that I have asked the chief medical officer to undertake work on why there is such a low midwife-led birthing rate across NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde?

Jackie Baillie: I will. I invite the chief medical officer to look at what has happened as a result of centralising the booking service, because that is key to the issue. I welcome the cabinet secretary's intervention on that point.

I know that cabinet secretaries have in the past operated on the basis that, if something did not cross their desk and they did not need to see it, they could turn round and blame the health board because somebody else had made the decision. I am afraid that that is no longer good enough. The

decision on whether a service change should be regarded as major is ultimately a matter for the Scottish ministers. Of course, there should be discussions with the Scottish health council and the health board but, please, cabinet secretary, do not hide behind them.

The cabinet secretary has had discussions with NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde and agreed with its arrangements for consultation. A health board paper says:

"In our view the changes to the CMUs do not meet the criteria for major service change."

Does the cabinet secretary agree with that statement? I am happy to take a yes/no intervention on that point.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: You cannot, because you have only 30 seconds left.

Jackie Baillie: That genuinely is a shame, but I hope that the cabinet secretary will pick up on that in her closing speech.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: I beg your pardon, Ms Baillie. If the cabinet secretary wants to intervene, I will give time.

Shona Robison: I am happy to intervene. I will be guided by what the Scottish health council and the health board say but, ultimately, I will decide whether the matter is to be subject to ministerial decision.

Jackie Baillie: I thank the cabinet secretary for that response. I hope that she will decide that a major service change is involved. I say as gently as I can that it would be simply unacceptable if the matter was left to the health board because, as night follows day, that will be the death knell for the Vale of Leven's maternity unit, and she knows that. Cabinet secretary—

The Deputy Presiding Officer: I am sorry, but you must conclude.

I call Fulton MacGregor, to be followed by Brian Whittle, who I see is not in his place, but I have no doubt that he will sprint here in time or that somebody will tell him to be here.

15:28

Fulton MacGregor (Coatbridge and Chryston) (SNP): I take the opportunity to declare that I have been appointed as the parliamentary liaison officer for the Cabinet Secretary for Health and Sport.

I am sure that I am not the only one who finds it ironic that, almost 10 years to the day since Labour voted to close the Monklands hospital accident and emergency department and downgrade the hospital to a grade 2 hospital, it has now lodged a motion that claims that the

Government is downgrading services there. As has been said, it was the SNP Government that reversed that appalling decision by Labour—a reversal that has saved countless lives in my constituency and beyond.

Every SNP health secretary—Nicola Sturgeon, Alex Neil and Shona Robison—has unequivocally guaranteed that Monklands hospital will retain A and E services and that its grade 1 status is safe. The guarantee was again given in the chamber only a few weeks ago when I asked the health secretary whether the Monklands accident and emergency unit was safe from closure and she of course confirmed that.

The Labour Party seems to have decided that the Monklands should be used as a political tool in its almost desperate attempts to keep control of North Lanarkshire Council next year. As my colleague Alex Neil pointed out, that is the view only of Labour Party members here at Holyrood, because the Labour leader of North Lanarkshire Council, Jim Logue, has given the plans his full backing. I am sure that he would have appreciated some discussion of that.

Why is the Monklands mentioned in the motion and why are we talking about the services there? NHS Lanarkshire recently proposed to move orthopaedic and trauma services temporarily from Monklands while a consultation takes place on the permanent future of those services. As we have heard, there may be an argument in hindsight that it would have been better for NHS Lanarkshire to have consulted on the move. However, the simple fact remains that the services are being moved because Healthcare Improvement Scotland and the General Medical Council, among many others, have identified significant risks and demanded that changes be made to improve patient safety.

Richard Leonard (Central Scotland) (Lab): Will the member take an intervention?

Fulton MacGregor: Not just now, Mr Leonard.

Those changes are being made temporarily with concern for patients' lives and wellbeing as the priority. I welcome the long-term plan to have all specialist orthopaedic services in one centre of excellence in Lanarkshire. I fully support amendment S5M-01510.1, lodged by Alex Neil, which calls for Monklands to be that centre. I will fight for that.

It is important to note that, while there is to be a temporary transfer of orthopaedic services to Hairmyres, the patients who require that service will, from a service delivery point of view, still attend Monklands in the first instance. The reality for the people of Coatbridge and surrounding areas is that, despite the temporary changes, if Monklands is their A and E hospital, that is where they will go.

Only 2 per cent of all those who attend the Monklands accident and emergency unit will need to visit another hospital under the temporary arrangements. The vast majority of orthopaedic patients will still have their initial treatment and follow-up care managed locally. What the people to whom I have spoken really care about is how they will be affected, so I will make it crystal clear. If they live in Coatbridge or Airdrie and they need to go to A and E, it is Monklands A and E that they will go to.

The changes are welcomed by a number of professionals, including Dr Iain Wallace, who is the medical director at NHS Lanarkshire. He highlights that, following a number of independent reviews, a temporary transfer—

Richard Leonard: Will the member take an intervention?

Fulton MacGregor: I am struggling for time as it is.

Richard Leonard: What about a short intervention?

The Deputy Presiding Officer: Please sit down, Mr Leonard.

Fulton MacGregor: Dr Iain Wallace highlights that a temporary transfer of 2 per cent of the most complex trauma cases is the only viable option to ensure that services remain safe and sustainable in the interim period.

Dr Jane Burns, who is the medical director for NHS Lanarkshire's acute division, has acknowledged that trauma and orthopaedic services in Lanarkshire have been under pressure for some time and that changes need to be made to services now. There has been an on-going risk to patient safety, which the NHS board is keen to address before the coming winter period.

If we look to the future, the news of a £400 million investment in a new hospital in the Monklands area by 2023 is welcome. The investment will mean that we can provide strong and appropriate local health services that meet the high standard that is required to treat the area's changing demographic. The new hospital will ensure that the people who are served by Monklands hospital receive the high standard of care that they not only expect but deserve. That is investment in local services.

Furthermore, in the past five years, £65 million has been invested in Monklands, including funding for the new critical care unit, the new pathology unit, the Lanarkshire Beatson centre and a refurbishment of the mental health unit and operating theatres. There has also been £1.5 million of investment in the provision of a consultant-led rapid assessment and treatment area in the emergency department and in

extending the same-day surgery unit. That is investment in local services for local people.

The SNP is committed to making Monklands hospital the best that it can be. We think big for our local area and services and are not content to score cheap political points. The two towns that are mainly affected by the Monklands issue now have four SNP representatives in Westminster and Holyrood. There is a reason why the people of Monklands now back the SNP: they know that their hospital is safe with us.

By the end of the current session of Parliament, the people of Coatbridge and beyond will be able to see for themselves that the construction of a new hospital is under way, which will fulfil my aim and the aim of the SNP for my constituency to be the best that it can be and to realise its full potential.

I will always fight for the Monklands. Over the past few months, I have been working with my colleagues in the area to ensure that we get a hospital that is capable of delivering the best services for the people it serves. I have engaged with the NHS board and with other elected representatives, including Elaine Smith—

The Deputy Presiding Officer: You must conclude.

Fulton MacGregor: I have secured an additional NHS-led public meeting on 10 October specifically on this matter. I urge everyone with an interest to come together, get involved in the consultation and attend the meeting.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: Now—

Fulton MacGregor: Can I just finish—

The Deputy Presiding Officer: No—you are stopping. I am sorry—I might have missed it, but did you declare at the beginning of your speech that you are a parliamentary liaison officer, as it was your first opportunity to do so?

Fulton MacGregor: Yes.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: You did—my apologies to members in the chamber.

15:34

Brian Whittle (South Scotland) (Con): I am pleased to speak in the debate and I thank Labour for putting health on the agenda again after the Scottish Conservatives' health debate last week, because the pressures on our NHS and its staff are many and ever present: the pressure to continue to deliver a world-class service while being squeezed from both sides with ever more complex procedures and treatments, within ever more closely scrutinised budgets; the pressure of an increasingly unhealthy nation, which is an issue

that we cannot and should not shy away from; the pressure of staff shortages and continuing recruitment issues; and the pressure of an ageing population—I am rather pleased that I may get a few more years in my dotage to annoy the children.

We should discuss the motion on the protection of local services in the context of an overall health strategy and the services that are provided at local, area and national levels. As the service that the NHS provides continues to develop, it is important that the long-term strategy at least keeps pace.

There is no doubt an advantage in having centres of excellence for once-in-a-lifetime procedures such as transplants or hip and knee replacements. It makes sense to fully utilise the best surgeons and healthcare professionals in their fields. However, more acute services, such as A and E, paediatrics, trauma orthopaedics, and some day care services and maternity units, should be much more readily accessible and it is right and proper that local MSPs and we as an Opposition question the Government and its reluctance to take a position on the cases that have been raised today, which involve significant material change in services, and to take responsibility and be held accountable for its actions and decisions, which affect these communities so fundamentally. It is not good enough to hide behind, "It's not me, guv."

This speaks to the motion—protecting local services. It does not mean looking at secondary care in isolation. These proposals must be considered in the context of the overall medical services on offer at the local level.

Perhaps it is time to start thinking much more strategically and creatively. Perhaps it is time to introduce budgetary terms of longer than a year to allow proper consideration for the implementation of longer-term strategies. Longer budgetary terms would certainly be conducive to a more cohesive preventable disease strategy. It would also help with staff planning and recruitment. Procurement then becomes a more manageable process.

If we want efficiency, longer-term budgets give more options. We have discussed creating GP community hubs as a good way of allowing GPs to engage and interact with their communities more effectively. with а multidisciplinary Specialists in areas such as mental health, physiotherapy, nutrition, pharmacy and even exercise prescription could all be on site-I very much like the last one I mentioned. However, how about the creation of community hubs around pharmacies as an idea worth exploring? Pharmacies are often better positioned in communities, especially in the more deprived areas.

Even more fundamental, if we are to improve the health of our nation and release some of the burden on our NHS, we should be focusing on pre-school intervention. Intervention at that age is often mooted and understood as crucial, yet little is done. With the proposed 30 hours of free childcare for three and four-year-olds-although the Scottish Conservatives would like that age group to be younger for the most significant interventions-it should be possible, with a bit of will power, to engage with the childcare professionals to deliver a national, structured active play programme that tackles the foundation of health inequality and the attainment gap. After all, some children are already two years behind by the time they reach school age.

I guess that what I am saying in my own convoluted and inimitable fashion is that protecting local NHS services does not necessarily mean preserving them as they are now. Local services are multifaceted and specific changes to those services impact on each service, and any decision must reflect that.

NHS boards must have the autonomy to make their decisions within Government policy guidelines. Having said that, we must be aware that boards risk fixating on implementing cost cuts in the short term and ignoring the potential long-term costs. That is exactly why those specific decisions that will fundamentally change their local NHS service provisions deserve to be examined at ministerial level. The buck stops with the Government, even if the SNP tries to wriggle out of that responsibility.

The success of the NHS does not lie just with the people who work in it directly; everyone in Scotland contributes to the survival of our NHS. We see that today, both with Labour's motion and with the reasons behind it. When the public hear that their local NHS services are in jeopardy, they rally round and fight to protect them, and that is why the Scottish Conservatives will support the motion.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: Again, I repeat, please could members not talk across the chamber. It is a tight six minutes for all speakers and some of the later ones may have their time cut a little—I am sorry.

15:39

Ash Denham (Edinburgh Eastern) (SNP): We are in very challenging times. The Scottish block grant is 5 per cent lower in real terms than it was five years ago. The Fraser of Allander institute recently predicted that the budget could be cut by up to 6 per cent. That is a staggering £1.5 billion over the next five years. The institute stated:

"The Scottish budget has faced unprecedented cuts since 2010."

That represents a full decade of significant cuts to the Scottish budget and, if that was not bad enough, due to the impact of inflation any financial commitments that the Government has made, such as the commitment to increase the NHS revenue budget by £500 million in real terms, will be even more expensive. It will be the same story with repayments associated with revenue finance capital investment programmes such as the private finance initiative, which already represent a significant proportion of health spending.

That is the backdrop against which the achievement of the Government must be considered.

Brian Whittle: Perhaps the member could explain why the SNP Government has not passed on the money in the block grant that is specifically designated for the NHS.

Ash Denham: Perhaps the member may wish to concern himself more with the "pockets of meltdown" that are predicted to affect the Conservative-run NHS in England.

We have seen achievements such as an increase in the overall NHS budget to a record high of £13 billion this year, and record numbers of staff across the board, from nurses to GPs, consultants and paramedics. Unlike in England, there are no compulsory redundancies in NHS Scotland. Band 5 nurses are on higher pay, and there is retained bursary support for nursing and midwifery students. I could go on, but I fear that I would run out of time. The NHS is demonstrably safe in our hands, so I urge Labour members to consider that the real reason for cuts to the Scottish budget is Tory austerity, and I ask them to unite with those on the SNP benches against the real cause and to stand up for Scotland's public services instead of disparaging them.

The motion today concerns proposed changes to services, and in the list of hospitals that Labour has put forward, one affects my constituents. [Interruption.]

The Deputy Presiding Officer: Excuse me, Ms Denham. I must point out to certain members that their sedentary interventions are annoying me. If they want to make an intervention, they should get on their feet.

Ash Denham: I am talking about the proposal to change the provision of cleft lip and palate surgery. My interest in this is due to many constituents contacting me about the possible loss of service in Edinburgh. Furthermore, the service is currently provided from the Royal hospital for sick children. That hospital has now reached the end of its life and is being replaced with a state-of-

the-art, brand-new hospital, which is due for completion in early 2018 and will be sited next to the Royal infirmary of Edinburgh in my constituency.

I am keen to ensure that my constituents continue to receive the very best in care. At the moment, the provision in Edinburgh at the Royal hospital for sick children is of the highest standard. It is led by Dr Felicity Mehendale, a world-class surgeon who is a leader in her field. Next year, she takes up a four-year presidency of the International Confederation for Cleft Lip and Palate and Related Craniofacial Anomalies—she is the first woman to hold the post—and in 2021 Edinburgh will host the 14th cleft congress, having beaten off stiff completion from Kyoto and Brisbane.

The proposal by the national specialist services committee, recently approved by NHS board chief executives, is to move away from a single surgical service over two surgical sites, to a single surgical service on one site. The new service is proposed to be run from Glasgow.

One of the surgical goals for cleft palate is that the patient must reach speech standards, which are assessed at age five according to UK protocols. The Edinburgh team scores highly on those standards, consistently scoring in speech standard 1 over the pass standard of 50 per cent, and in 2016 scoring an impressive 90 per cent. In contrast, the other team has on two occasions in the past four years failed to meet the pass standard, and in 2015 it scored as low as 36 per cent. Speech standard 2a, which is distinct in that it cannot be affected by speech therapy, shows a similar story over the past four years. The Edinburgh results for the past year were 95 per cent, and Glasgow's were only 68 per cent, which fails the pass mark of 70 per cent. The Glasgow service, unfortunately, has not met the pass mark at all in the past four years.

Therefore, the clinical evidence supports the retention of services in Edinburgh. The Edinburgh service with its multidisciplinary team is one of the best in the UK and is recognised as being of international standard. The proposed change would mean an impact on families from the east of Scotland, who would lose the best care outcomes, and it would also create a deficit in the eastern part of the country. I have much sympathy for the fact that patients and their families will have longer travel times by car from Aberdeen and Inverness in the north and right down to Melrose in the south. However, by public transport, the journey times from Fife, the Borders, East Lothian and Edinburgh are significantly longer—in many cases, they are double what they would have been to Edinburgh.

I already have a meeting scheduled with the cabinet secretary to discuss this issue, and I hope that she will listen to the concerns of my constituents and retain the Edinburgh cleft palate service.

15:45

Neil Bibby (West Scotland) (Lab): I welcome the opportunity once again to speak up for the many NHS patients and staff I represent, who are rightly concerned about plans to cut key local health services in the west of Scotland, including the RAH children's ward in Paisley and maternity services at the Inverclyde Royal hospital.

I have lost count of the number of times that I have spoken in the chamber about the need to protect the children's ward at the RAH. There has been a cloud of uncertainty over its future for far too long, and we know that the health board plans to transfer 8,000 paediatric cases from the RAH to Glasgow, which would represent the closure of the children's ward as we know it.

I have said before and I will say again that the cabinet secretary should be under no illusions about the importance of the RAH children's ward to local families, such as the ones I met at a public meeting that was organised by the kids need our ward campaign last week. As the health secretary has repeatedly refused invitations to visit Paisley and speak to those families, I want to relay directly to her some of what has been said by my constituents.

One Paisley mum said:

"My daughter was in Ward 15 for two weeks when she was six, the ward is very family focused and the staff are brilliant. Being close to home meant I could receive support from family which meant I was able to go home for a short time each evening. This could not have happened if she had been in hospital in Glasgow. Paisley desperately needs this ward to stay open."

Another grateful parent said:

"Ward 15 saved our little boy when he was admitted at 11 weeks old ... being able to stay with him throughout the week and also having the support of family who live close to the hospital was invaluable. Without Ward 15, we may not have our energetic 4 year old now."

Sandra Webster, a founding member of the KNOW campaign, described how her son has had to use the ward once a month for minor operations. She said:

"I cannot describe the upheaval, both financially and personally if we had to travel to the Queen Elizabeth University Hospital. Having the ward in the RAH makes our lives so much easier."

The health secretary needs to listen to the children, the staff, the parents and the grandparents who want the RAH children's ward to be protected. She should listen to common

sense and also to the communities in Renfrewshire and beyond who use the ward. Shona Robison has said that she will listen to representations. She will be aware that she has already received thousands of petition signatures calling for her to stop these plans, and I can tell her that I have with me thousands more that will be arriving with her shortly.

Virtually no one in the local area believes that the cuts to the RAH children's ward should go ahead, and they should not go ahead.

As I said in a speech in the chamber two weeks ago, concerns over the centralisation of NHS services are not just about children's services but about maternity services. Closing the birthing unit at Inverclyde Royal hospital would mean that women are no longer able to give birth at their local hospital, close to their home, family and friends. I think that most people would consider that type of closure to be a major service change, and one that would be a major blow to people in Inverclyde. That is why it should be designated as such, so that the final decision on birthing facilities at the IRH is taken by the health secretary. It would be good to know when she will take the decision on whether the designation of the proposal will change.

People in Inverclyde will, rightly, expect the SNP Government to take responsibility. Let us not forget that, as Anas Sarwar said, the First Minister was on the front page of the *Greenock Telegraph* last year promising that

"There are no plans to centralise services out of Inverclyde".

The reality is that the future of our local hospitals depends on keeping such key services. These decisions do not only have short-term consequences and consequences only for the people who are directly affected. The centralisation of services is leaving people across the west of Scotland concerned that questions will inevitably arise over the long-term sustainability of their local hospitals.

The SNP denied that these proposals existed before the election and said that it would protect local NHS services. The Government's amendment today mentions the St John's children's ward but fails to even mention the RAH children's ward or the IRH birthing unit. It cannot possibly be reassuring to worried local families that they are not even mentioned in the amendment. If local SNP politicians support the SNP amendment over the motion, they will be putting their own party interest ahead of their community's.

Our motion today makes clear that all these cuts should be designated as major service changes and we believe that they should be rejected by the health secretary. We know that the health secretary has the power to act. The Scottish Health Council's guidance is clear:

"The decision on whether a service change should be regarded as major ultimately rests with Scottish Ministers."

It is time for the SNP Government and the health secretary to listen. It is time for them to stop hiding behind the health boards that are facing financial black holes because of underfunding from her Government. It is time for them to stop hiding behind the Scottish Health Council and get off the fence. It is time for them to stop sitting back and watching while the cuts happen and vital local services are axed.

The SNP said that it would protect local NHS services. The question now is simple: is it going to or not? I hope that members from across the chamber will do the right thing, stand up for the services that their constituents rely on, and support the motion at 5 o'clock.

15:51

Emma Harper (South Scotland) (SNP): I am pleased to have the opportunity to speak in this afternoon's debate. I draw members' attention to my entry in the register of members' interests: I am a registered nurse and a member of the Royal College of Nursing.

It is because of my 30 years of experience as a nurse in the perioperative department—the operating room—and as a nurse educator that I wanted to speak in today's debate. I think that everyone in the chamber can find common agreement in recognising that people absolutely value the NHS services that are local and convenient to them as well as valuing the contributions of all NHS staff who work round the clock to provide the safest patient care in the world-class health system that is NHS Scotland.

As a former Stranraer lass, I am familiar with the concerns of family and friends, as well as those of constituents I have spoken to, who make round trips of 150 miles and more for routine appointments in Dumfries. As Maree Todd mentioned, some of the challenges are already being addressed through the use of modern videoconferencing technology for diabetes. respiratory clinics. urological and Equally important, my professional experience is that multidisciplinary teams working across many specialties are vital to getting the best evidencebased outcomes for patients.

The RCN states that ensuring long-term sustainability of services means health boards needing to do things differently. I agree with the RCN that it should be consulted as an active participant in any service redesign. That means

delivering services locally while putting the right teams together.

For example, providing orthopaedic trauma care, is not simply a question of having in place competent nurses and orthopaedic surgeons and the other team members—physiotherapists, occupational therapists, radiographers and radiologists. There is more to it. Orthotrauma requires specialised equipment and tools such as the nuts and bolts, plates and screws and power tools of all sizes and gauges that are needed to realign or rebuild fractured bones.

Service redesign—not downgrading—is about addressing shifting medical needs to address the health of our aging population. It is not easy to facilitate and provide all the advanced knowledge and technical requirements to assure optimal safe care.

Given all those considerations, any health board has to consider all the available options to put together the sort of teams that I have described in the most effective way. However, they must do so having regard to the national clinical strategy, which provides a long-term commitment to delivering local services wherever possible but which also recognises that there will be a need for complex treatments to be delivered in specialist centres where the right teams—as I have outlined—can be brought together with the volume of patients to ensure good clinical practice that meets our demanding national patient safety programme.

The point that I wish to make very clearly is that the practical experience of delivering modern healthcare involves constant effort to get that balance right, and reviewing service provision is part of that effort. Having said that, I would not wish colleagues to take that point—critical though it is—as a defence of what the motion describes as the downgrading of "valued local services". It is anything but. Instead, it is an attempt to relate my front-line experience of NHS service provision to this debate and to explain why health boards review how they provide services.

The fact that boards consider service changes does not mean that those changes will be implemented or, should they be designated as major service changes, accepted by ministers. Boards have previously made recommendations that SNP ministers have not accepted, such as those on the closure of the Monklands A and E department and Lightburn hospital, both of which ministers rejected.

My practical experience of service delivery is that we engage in the best evidence-based practice to obtain the best outcomes that focus on safe, effective, person-centred, timely and costeffective care, and that experience leads me to expect such issues to be fully considered in any health board service review. The service review is being undertaken and it has not finished yet. The Government cannot interfere while the process is on-going; it cannot interfere until the review process is complete.

I encourage colleagues to remember that the SNP has made massive commitments to resourcing our NHS, which will see funding rise to a record high of nearly £13 billion this year, with primary care receiving an increasing share of the NHS budget in each year of the current session of Parliament. That is a commitment that my Labour colleagues would not match in their manifesto. Indeed, their NHS spending plans were actually lower than those of the Tories.

I encourage everyone with an interest in the services that are being reviewed in the three health board areas to participate in the consultations. Where any of them result in proposals for major service change, those will be subject to ministerial scrutiny. I am confident that the Government will then weigh up the arguments very carefully in reaching a decision. I support the amendment in the cabinet secretary's name.

15:57

Jeremy Balfour (Lothian) (Con): I declare an interest as a councillor on the City of Edinburgh Council. I also have family members who are employed in the health service.

It was my privilege to take part in the health debate last week and to raise the important issue of GP numbers and the effect that the reduction is having on patients in the Lothians and across Scotland. If we were to get the numbers right, the pressure on hospitals would be reduced. It would be easy for me to talk again about doctor numbers and morale, but I want to move the debate on and look at something that is as important to patient care: the high-level decisions that are made by the Scottish Government and health boards.

The relationship between the Scottish Government and health boards is vital, yet too often they seek to blame each other for decisions that are made. There needs to be a close working relationship.

Here in the Lothians, we are in the first few months of an integrated health and social care board and the model that has been chosen is that of joint working between the City of Edinburgh Council and NHS Lothian. Most people believe that that is the right way forward and that it can work well, but we discovered this week that no budget has been set for the new board: neither the council nor NHS Lothian has been able to set a budget.

The issue was raised on Monday afternoon at the council's governance, risk and best value committee, and it was made clear that the council has not set its budget because the Scottish Government is not clear on what funding it will get. That seems to me to be unacceptable. I ask the cabinet secretary to intervene to ensure that the council and NHS Lothian set a budget, given that we are now a third of the way through the financial year.

We are all aware that the health service has to change because our population is changing. The number of elderly people is increasing—a trend that will continue, as the BMA pointed out in its briefing paper for us, for the next 10, 15 or 20 years. However, as the health service changes, we need to keep its core foundation: helping people in need.

I will give members an example of a service that has been changed. It is a service in the Lothians but the example is illustrative of what is happening in other parts of Scotland. The Lanfine service is a specialist service that helps those affected by neurodisabling conditions, who have severe conditions and need help and respite care. The service offered individuals help with their conditions by taking them to hospital maybe once or twice a year to give them extra treatment and care, and to give respite to those who looked after them. The redesign of the service started in 2010 and was based on taking the number of beds down from 33 to 10. Many of my constituents who have contacted me about the service feel that the redesign is financially driven, despite assurances at the start that it would not be, and that people are being forgotten about in the process.

The service started its redesign six years ago, and a full outreach team was meant to be in place and up and running by now. However, as of today, nobody has been employed to help in the redesigned service. Beds have been cut, the redesigned service is not complete and people are wondering where they should go. The service is meant to move to the new Royal Edinburgh hospital, which is due to open in 2020. However, many of the services that people rely on are based at the Astley Ainslie: the smart centre is there, as is other professional help. What will happen when the service moves? Where will those services go? How will people access what they require? Those questions remain unanswered and are leaving many vulnerable people concerned and scared that they will not get what they require.

As a Parliament and a nation, we need to make difficult choices for our health service in the years and decades ahead, but those choices must be informed and must be about what is best for patients and the vulnerable in our society. I fear that, too often, decisions are made in boardrooms,

driven not by patient need but by other factors. That needs to change.

16:03

Ross Greer (West Scotland) (Green): In the short time that I have available today, I want to raise a few principal concerns about the proposed service changes: that there has been a lack of robust, meaningful public consultation; that the pace of change is too fast; and that our community services may not be ready to handle the impact of service closures. I appreciate that there can be long-term benefits when we shift the balance of care away from the acute sector. Like others across the chamber, I am not opposed to developing more specialised services if they deliver clinical benefits for patients. In that regard, I could agree with much of what Maree Todd said. However, there are fundamental questions about access to be answered, and I am not sure that we are ready for changes to local services on the scale that we are seeing.

We need to ensure that we have solid, well-supported community services that are flexible enough to handle the impact of any hospital closures. However, that is not to say that I support those closures. We need to know that clinical benefits for patients are proven, not just assumed, before pressing ahead with service changes. That requires robust discussion around future service delivery.

To be fair, the Government's amendment points out the strong efforts that have been made to keep in-patient paediatric services at St John's, just as the Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health recommended. I am glad that NHS Lothian is acting on that expert advice and protecting local services for young people and their families, but we need to have far more discussion about the wide range of service changes that are proposed across the west coast. As Anas Sarwar's motion makes clear, there is widespread public concern about those proposals. Too many patients, families and staff members feel that they have not been listened to. For too many, that has gone on for far too long.

Just a few weeks ago, we had a debate on the centralisation of cleft lip and palate surgery. My colleague Alison Johnstone pointed out that one of the national specialist service committee's own papers on the proposals acknowledged that there were "lessons to be learned" from the consultation process. The involvement of service users, staff and the wider public has to be real and meaningful, and it has to help shape the outcomes. Have we really seen that level of public engagement around the proposed service changes? I do not believe that we have, and I am sick of many issues that affect my constituents

going back to problems that relate to poor levels of consultation.

I am concerned that NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde discussed significant changes to maternity services in August, when, as we know, the national review of maternity and neonatal care was in its final stages—the concluding report had not yet been submitted to ministers. Whatever the outcome of the review, it would have been reasonable to delay the plans to change maternity services until the review had been completed, its findings had been published and an informed public discussion had begun.

We know that supporting patient choice is incredibly important in maternity care. I am sure that we all want a full range of options to be locally available. If women can no longer choose to give birth in community maternity units in the Vale of Leven and Inverclyde, more will be booked into hospitals in Glasgow. We risk pushing women into giving birth in environments that they have not chosen to be in. Some may be able to have a midwife-led birth at the Royal Alexandra hospital's community midwife unit, but that is certainly not a local service for my constituents in the Vale of Leven. Jackie Baillie has covered that point very well already.

NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde's board papers state:

"the main compelling arguments for change are based on staffing issues".

Surely we should respond by providing better support to our local services. The same paper suggests that the dedicated home birth team, which currently covers Glasgow, can simply extend its services to the whole of greater Glasgow and Clyde. If staffing issues are the principal concern, how can we be confident that the home birth team is well resourced enough for such a rapid expansion?

As Neil Bibby mentioned, ending paediatric inpatient services at the Royal Alexandra hospital is estimated to affect more than 8,000 episodes of care. The board's papers indicate that access to the Royal hospital for children in Glasgow will be a "significant concern" for patients in the Royal Alexandra hospital's current catchment area. I know from the level of correspondence that I have received from constituents—some of those constituents are in the public gallery—that that is a huge concern.

On the centre for integrative care proposals, it cannot be taken for granted that out-patient treatment is feasible. Many people who use that centre experience chronic pain, chronic fatigue or other conditions that make everyday travel difficult. NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde has stated that overnight accommodation will be available in

"exceptional circumstances", but we do not know what that means.

We all value our NHS. I hope that the Government can understand the concerns that have been raised and why many members across the chamber will support the Labour motion.

16:08

Ivan McKee (Glasgow Provan) (SNP): Lightburn hospital, which is in my constituency, is a key part of the local community. It provides inpatient, out-patient and day hospital services and is the base for the local Parkinson's group. In August, Greater Glasgow and Clyde NHS Board presented proposals to close it.

As members will no doubt be aware, this is not the first time that Lightburn hospital has been threatened. In 2010, the health board made similar proposals. Those proposals were discussed at a meeting of Glasgow City Council in November 2010 and the Labour councillors supported the closure plan in order to save the sum of £500,000. As we all know, the health board failed to make the case, and those plans were overruled in 2011 by the then Cabinet Secretary for Health and Wellbeing, Nicola Sturgeon.

The health board had a meeting on 16 August this year, which I attended. At that meeting, it presented a paper that made the case for the closure of Lightburn hospital. I attended that meeting with the save Lightburn hospital campaign—Gerry McCann from that campaign is in the gallery. I have also met, separately and along with the save Lightburn hospital campaign and representatives of Parkinson's UK, the directors of the health board to examine its case for closure in more detail.

In my opinion, the board fails to make a case for the closure of Lightburn hospital, based on what it has presented. The data that it presents is misleading and incomplete, and no data has been presented to back up its key claims around improved outcomes, which are a key part of the board's argument for closure.

Out-patient services are to move from Lightburn to a proposed new health hub in the east end, but there is no timescale for its construction. The health board directs questions about the hub to the integration joint board—a case of integration being used as a vehicle to shift rather than share responsibility. There is no clarity as to what measures will be put in place to cover the period between the proposed closure of Lightburn and the hoped-for construction of the new facility.

In the meantime, the Lightburn site has suffered significant underinvestment. Recently, parts were boarded up, signalling that the site and the patients it serves are not valued. Lightburn serves a community with a high proportion of elderly residents and with low car ownership. Recovery rates are better when patients are closer to family and friends and can have frequent visits. The plan to relocate rehabilitation in-patient services to the other end of the city presents visitors with many transport challenges.

This Government aims to tackle health inequalities partly through shifting resources to the most deprived communities. The health board's plan does precisely the opposite. It would move resources from an area that contains three of the four most deprived areas in Scotland.

I made all those points in the debate in the chamber two weeks ago. Today, I want to examine further the plans for continuing community health services in the east end of Glasgow. The Scottish Government has rightly put the integration of health and social care at the heart of its programme to improve health outcomes. It has transferred the lion's share of funds from health boards to IJBs.

The Glasgow IJB has taken over responsibility for the provision of community health services across the city. Unlike the health board, where only seven of the 27 members are elected representatives, fully half of the members of the IJB are Glasgow city councillors. The IJB will have to consider how community health services should be provided in the city and, in August, it considered that very subject. The answer was to invest £32 million in a new community health hub in the east end.

Now, I can help the IJB by offering it some free advice. It could use its new-found powers and the funds it has been allocated to invest in and develop an existing site that already provides community health services to the people of the east end. In short, the IJB could site the new community health hub at Lightburn, alongside the existing services there.

Jackie Baillie: Ivan McKee will be aware that IJBs are complaining about being underfunded by health boards. Has he just shifted responsibility away from the Scottish Government and on to IJBs, instead of defending Lightburn?

Ivan McKee: Jackie Baillie should have listened to the first three minutes of my speech in which I talked precisely about defending Lightburn. I am working with the save Lightburn hospital campaign, I have written to local organisations and I am committed to working to save Lightburn. In the IJB's paper, the IJB itself has talked about investing £32 million in a new community health hub. The IJBs have the lion's share of funding to the health service across Scotland. Jackie Baillie should read that document.

Who is on the IJB to make the decision? It is chaired by Councillor Archie Graham, and there are four other Labour councillors, including Bailie Elaine McDougall, who represents the east centre ward, which is adjacent to Lightburn hospital. [Interruption.] The money is there. It is in the IJB's paper.

The public engagement on Lightburn's future has started, and I have written to local community groups and community councils to urge them to take part in that process.

Anas Sarwar: Will Ivan McKee give way?

Ivan McKee: No, I am in the last minute of my speech.

The health board's proposals for Lightburn are flawed. The answer to shifting the focus of service delivery from acute care to the community is not to close a community hospital and move patients to a large acute hospital some distance away. The answer to tackling health inequalities is not to shift resources from the most deprived communities to the centre. The answer to improving outcomes for patients is not to move them away from friends and family, reducing rather than improving their outcomes.

The answer to improving health service provision for the people of the east end of Glasgow is not the health board's proposal. I call on the IJB to step up to the plate and to choose to invest in the Lightburn site the money that it plans to invest in a new hub—as stated in its own paper—so that it can continue to provide services locally in the community in line with the Government's national clinical strategy.

The Deputy Presiding Officer (Linda Fabiani): I call Elaine Smith, to be followed by Graham Simpson.

16:14

Elaine Smith (Central Scotland) (Lab): Labour's motion reflects the number of major service changes proposed across the NHS in Scotland. I have expressed concern to the Public Petitions Committee about the proposals for the centre for integrative care. I have written to ministers with a particular focus on the closure of the CIC clinic in Coatbridge. However, due to time limits, today I will focus on the cuts to orthopaedics and trauma at Monklands.

A decade ago, NHS Lanarkshire carried out a review of acute service delivery under the banner, "A Picture of Health", based on the Kerr report. Several options in that review involved downgrading Monklands hospital. I remind the cabinet secretary that the review was based on the alleged lack of safety of services 10 years ago.

None of those options proposed completely closing the hospital, or indeed the A and E. Nonetheless, that attack on our local health services in Monklands was completely unacceptable to local people, as evidenced in extensive consultations, and it was unacceptable to local politicians, including me.

The decision was devolved to the health board, but the Government has a duty and a responsibility to sign off major service changes, so the Labour-Liberal coalition signed off that change—wrongly, in my opinion—and, frankly, suffered the electoral consequences.

I spoke out against my own party on that issue. I lodged a motion on the future of Monklands hospital as my last motion before the 2007 election and lodged another as my first motion after I was sworn in following the election. I have no doubt that the SNP's election campaign to save Monklands helped it to victory in 2007; indeed, "Save Monklands" was printed on the ballot papers beside SNP candidates' names.

One of the downgrading options at that time—option D—specifically proposed removing orthopaedics and trauma. That option was meant to have been rejected when the newly elected SNP Government demanded a rethink by NHS Lanarkshire, which resulted in the status quo for Monklands. Those proposals were rejected 10 years ago.

Only, it has not really been the status quo. The loss of paediatrics has been added to over the past decade by the loss of gynaecology and dermatology. Heart attack patients are now treated at Hairmyres hospital. What we see now is a return to the downgrading of a decade ago, with the removal of orthopaedics and trauma, again based on alleged problems with the safety of services, as the cabinet secretary pointed out in her opening remarks.

That all looks very much like death by a thousand cuts to me. There is an opportunity, right now, to call in the current cuts proposals, to consult properly and to think again.

As for the proposal to build a new Monklands hospital in 7 years' time, of course that investment would be welcome, but perhaps the cabinet secretary can clear up some questions. Where in her Government's budget planning is the £400 million? What does she say to the health professionals who say that a new acute hospital would cost at least double that amount? Where will it be built? If a cost has been identified, the detail on that must surely be known. In fact, Fulton MacGregor seems to know it in today's *Airdrie & Coatbridge Advertiser*—perhaps it could be shared with the rest of us.

The promise of a new hospital cannot be used as a smokescreen to cover up the current threat of the downgrading of orthopaedics and trauma. Let us have a look at the facts about the current threat.

Orthopaedic in-patient and trauma services are being taken away from Monklands hospital, to be delivered instead at Wishaw and Hairmyres hospitals, which are at least an hour away by public transport, with no new transport arrangements being proposed for, for example, patients with limited mobility. That will be for at least 7 years, apparently. That decision was taken during summer recess with no prior public consultation and the staff were issued with redundancy notices.

Due to that, Richard Leonard and I organised a public meeting to try to get public engagement with the health board. I would expect health board members to come to a meeting that was organised by MSPs, but they chose not to attend. They cited a lack of consultants at short notice. I did not ask for a consultant—I asked for one of the board members and/or a senior official.

However, it is important to hear the views of medical professionals, particularly those who have experience of working in Monklands. Orthopaedic surgeon Sathar Thajam, who has worked at Monklands hospital for 30 years, calls the plan

"ill-advised, ill thought out, badly planned and totally unnecessary".

He goes on to say:

"The argument that Mr Calum Campbell and the Lanarkshire Health Board put out continually, saying that there will be no disruption to the care of the elderly and the young following the closure of the Orthopaedic and Trauma unit at Monklands Hospital, is in my opinion, frankly ludicrous."

Having spoken to other staff privately, I know that we could hear similar things from more of them were they not worried about speaking out. Some consultants have spoken out. Six at Wishaw say that it is impractical to shunt patients about Lanarkshire in ambulances, and seven orthopaedic surgeons at Monklands have made the case for the service to stay at Monklands.

The SNP can and should step in to stop this major service change, and I believe they have a duty to do so. At the very least, the plans must be halted until a full consultation on this specific issue is carried out. A meeting is a start. The people of Monklands deserve to know the full facts.

Presiding Officer, at what point does the downgrading of Monklands hospital end? Does the Government really think that people will accept promises of jam tomorrow that, frankly, are designed to try to disguise cuts today? At what point do SNP constituency members put the

people whom they serve first, and demand that the Government step in to stop those cuts? I did that a decade ago. I stood by my principles; SNP members should do that now.

We know that the issue featured heavily in the recent Coatbridge North and Glenboig by-election, with Labour's Alex McVey elected on a promise to oppose cuts at Monklands. That sends a clear message that people care about their vital local services and increasing numbers are joining the campaign to save Monklands hospital. The least that they can expect—and some campaign members are in the gallery today—is for the Government to call in the matter.

I have no doubt that people power can and will win the battle to save services and we on the Labour benches will be standing firmly with the campaigners to stop the cuts. I hope that other elected representatives will do so, too.

16:20

Graham Simpson (Central Scotland) (Con): This important debate—I thank Labour for bringing it to the chamber—follows on from our debate on health last week. We all use the NHS. Most of us have great experiences of it and we are grateful to the staff who provide such fantastic service. It is easy for those in Government to say, "What a great job we're doing," or for other politicians to say that the governing party is letting the public down. The truth is usually somewhere in between.

Some good things are happening in the NHS. Next week, I am attending the opening of a new health centre in East Kilbride—the one that my family uses—and there will be a new Monklands hospital in the region that I represent. However, there are problems and we need to be honest about them.

I will start with some general figures. The Royal College of General Practitioners says that Scotland is 830 GPs short of the number needed, following a 2.4 per cent fall in their number between 2013 and 2015. That is serious. This week, I was contacted by a local GP, who told me:

"Secondary care problems snowball back to primary care. Waiting times are increasing. I was informed 2 weeks ago that the routine waiting time for out patient Gastroenterology at the new Victoria is now 30 weeks. Waiting time for a Community Physiotherapy appt. in my area is now 12 weeks ... After a busy day (often 10 hours+), I like many other GPs, couldn't face a shift in out of hours. There are shortages & closures as a result."

That does not paint a rosy picture. Staff shortages mean that costs increase and add to stress levels among those who are left; they are changing the way that we deliver our health service.

I mentioned Monklands, which is the subject of part of Labour's motion and has been heavily

mentioned today. Let me be clear: a new hospital is to be welcomed. However, there have been big concerns locally over the changes to trauma and orthopaedics.

A Lanarkshire NHS Board briefing says that the most complex trauma cases that require surgery are being moved from Monklands to Hairmyres and Wishaw general hospitals. As Shona Robison said, that is an interim move, but proposals are under way to take the services solely to one site, probably Wishaw. My own sense, as someone who lives at the other side of Lanarkshire, is that Monklands is probably the best place to have the services; it is the easiest place to get to.

Alex Neil: I welcome the member's tone so far. I want it to be clear that the health board is saying that the trauma centre should be in Wishaw, because the paediatric services are there, but that the elective orthopaedic centre would not be in Wishaw. My preference—and I think that this is what will happen—is for that to be in the new Monklands hospital when it is built in 2023.

Graham Simpson: I agree. As I have stated, that would be a more practical option; there will also be a brand new hospital.

The health board has stated that risks have been identified within NHS Lanarkshire's trauma and orthopaedic services that could affect patient safety:

"We have an immediate pressure to make interim changes now so that the service is safe and sustainable for patients in Lanarkshire."

Those are serious words:

"so that the service is safe".

How has it been allowed to get to this stage? [Interruption.] I want to make progress. There have been 10 years of SNP Government. Staffing issues have been in the pipeline for some time, but sufficient action has not been taken.

Let me be clear. I understand and agree with the move towards having specialisms delivered more centrally. That makes sense for the professional and the patient. Changing the way in which we deliver GP services so that people do not always have to see the family doctor also makes sense. However, the proposals in Lanarkshire are perceived as a downgrading of Monklands hospital even though we will retain three fully functioning A and E departments. Irrespective of what is planned, we need to know how we got here, because, after a decade of having the SNP in charge of Scotland's health service, we still have staff shortages.

Here is what consultant orthopaedic surgeon Alberto Gregori has to say:

"There's a shortage out there. We can't recruit. Part of that is people don't want to work in small units and part of it is there is a national shortage. ... The present status quo is not sustainable, it's not safe."

So far, Shona Robison has hidden behind the health board, but she has to take some responsibility. She is in charge. I do not want her to step in on every decision that is made locally, but these are big ones and she must step up to the plate. After 10 years of the SNP being in charge, the time for blaming others has to end.

16:26

Clare Haughey (Rutherglen) (SNP): As one of three healthcare professionals recently elected to the Parliament and one of the two nurses in the chamber today, I feel that it is particularly important for me to speak in this debate on the future of healthcare services. The Government's vision is that, by 2020, everyone will be able to live longer, healthier lives at home or in a similar setting. To ensure quality and consistent care, the health service must be smart and efficient in order to meet the increasingly complex health needs of an ageing population. The national care strategy, which is the blueprint for health and social care in Scotland, takes that population change into Its emphasis on the account. multidisciplinary working and the use of advances in research and technology is designed to support the needs of this generation and of the generations to come.

I am no stranger to periods of transformational change. I have been a mental health nurse for over 30 years and, in that time, there have been huge changes not only in the way that we view mental illness but in how we care for and treat people who are suffering from mental illness. I would go as far as to say that we have witnessed a revolution in mental health care. When I began my nursing training, the majority of patients with mental illness were cared for in large institutions. Those asylums, many of which were built in the late 1800s or the early 20th century, were frankly no longer fit for purpose. Often physically disconnected from modern life and society, patients were isolated from their communities, their families and their existing networks of support. In many cases, that isolation was for years at a time. It was not unheard of for someone who had been admitted to hospital for an illness that would now be treated in primary care by GPs to never return home. Often, wards were home to in excess of 40 or 50 patients, with little personal space or privacy. Long-term patients spent years of their lives in those institutions. I personally cared for many men and women who had been in hospital for over 30 years, forgotten about by society and estranged from their families and

friends. The staff and other patients were their only social contact.

The hospitals became communities of their own where work activities were supported and encouraged, where social events were organised and held and where shops provided not just sweets and drinks but clothing and shoes. There was little reason to leave the hospital grounds, and for many patients there was little prospect of returning to a life outside hospital. However, in the 1980s and early 1990s we began to see a change in how mental health services were delivered, and multidisciplinary community mental health teams were formed. No longer would community psychiatric nurses, of whom there were only a few, work in isolation. Psychiatrists, psychologists, occupational therapists and pharmacists all adapted to new ways of working in new settings.

Ideas of where mental health care should be delivered began to change, and in most cases that was in a community setting, where most people wanted to receive care and treatment. The majority of large institutions were closed and newer, smaller, more modern facilities were built to provide care for the most acutely unwell patients. Long-term care was no longer the norm. If someone needed to be admitted to a mental health facility, it was for as short a period of time as possible rather than being committed to care for the rest of their life.

The public came to expect to be able to access mental health services while remaining at home. As well as community mental health teams, support services were delivered by third sector partners, thus addressing the social as well as the mental health needs of people who required additional support to live their lives.

Out-of-hours mental health services began to develop, with telephone triage and access to mental health assessment and care outside normal working hours. Again, those services helped people to stay at home rather than be admitted to hospital.

In the early 2000s, crisis services began to be developed across the country. Seven days a week, teams provide crisis management and support to some of the most unwell and vulnerable people in our society. They provide intensive home treatment, often visiting several times a day to ensure that a patient is safe and can remain at home

Specialist community teams have also been developed, to provide expert care and treatment in areas such as eating disorders and perinatal mental health, and to ensure early intervention in psychosis.

All the service changes that I have described are now accepted as the norm in mental health

care. Throughout my career, there has been a profound change in how we care for patients and their carers and families, which has helped to reduce the stigma around mental illness and has encouraged people to access care and treatment at an earlier stage. We talk about mental illness, instead of shying away from it. That is to be welcomed.

None of that would have happened without service redesign.

Anas Sarwar: Will the member take an intervention?

Clare Haughey: No, sorry.

At the time, the changes were difficult. Service users, carers, staff and the public were worried and concerned about bed and hospital closures. People worried that services would not meet their expectations. They worried about safety. However, no one would argue for a return to old ways of working. We accept that the model of mental health service delivery is much more modern, evidence based and rights respecting than it was in the past.

If we are to change the focus of healthcare away from the existing models and hospital settings to community settings, as we did in mental health, we have to review services. We have to be open to discussion about what can be done differently, what can be done more efficiently and what is best for patients.

Service redesign should not be automatically viewed as negative. Changes to services can be challenging, but with the challenges come opportunities to make positive changes to people's lives.

16:32

Alex Cole-Hamilton (Edinburgh Western) (LD): I congratulate the Scottish Labour Party on bringing the motion to the Parliament. In particular, I thank Anas Sarwar for his kind remarks about the amendment that the Liberal Democrats lodged. We will embrace the spirit of cross-party consensus to which he referred.

This debate is not about exercising top-heavy parliamentary control—far from it. As a Liberal, and as a passionate exponent of subsidiarity, I would not rise to speak in support of a motion that sought to give ministers or the Parliament the whip hand so that they could ride roughshod over the careful plans of clinicians and managers and oppose rationalisation or redesign on a whim. However, on decisions of this magnitude, on proposals that threaten much-loved and well-used local facilities—proposals that have induced dozens of constituents to seek appointments in our constituency surgeries—we have a duty to

raise the issue in the Parliament and in the corridors of Government, to give stakeholders their day in court and to test the reasoning of the clinicians and managers who proposed the changes.

Parliamentarians are asked, on doorsteps, in our surgeries and through our mailbags, to account for the day-to-day decisions that health boards take, but I am not content to hide behind the health board when I reply. I want answers that go beyond the vague, opaque language of funding pressures and optimisation. Every day, decisions are made to rationalise and optimise. Well-paid people, who are experts in their fields, take decisions, as is absolutely right. In the vast majority of cases, what is decided is the right thing to do. However, sometimes the bottom line or what appears to make sense does not elicit the expected public response. For example, a huge amount of research went into the designing and commissioning of the Royal hospital for children, on the site of the old Southern general hospital. Colourful, state-of-the-art, single-occupancy rooms were constructed, to much fanfare—until the kids arrived. As a youth worker of 19 years' experience, I could have told the commissioners that vulnerable children do not like to be left alone. There has now been a row back on some of what was provided.

My point is that what looks good on paper and is backed up by research sometimes requires the end user's direct input before it is signed off. If parliamentarians cannot voice Scottish patients' concerns and enable them to have that input, I do not know where the interface can take place.

We have heard compelling evidence of specifics at the children's ward at the Royal Alexandra hospital and the Vale of Leven maternity ward. In my constituency, the constituents and patients who come to my surgeries overwhelmingly voice concerns on the issue of cleft palate and craniofacial services in Edinburgh. The surgeon Felicity Mehendale leads a world-beating team there and, as we heard from Ash Denham, she is set to play host to the field's international congress in 2021. We know how good she is-we have heard about that in the debate-but that is only because 6,000 campaigners raised freedom of information requests as part of the consultation process to prove who good she is. That speaks volumes about how opaque and untransparent the process is. To move her to Glasgow on the ground that not to do so would be sub-optimal would run the risk of losing her from the Scottish profession altogether, and that would be not only sub-optimal but a criminal waste of talent. I find it astonishing that the only time the Parliament has had the opportunity to debate the planned closures has been Miles Briggs's members' business debate two weeks ago and this Opposition debate day.

That is not how Parliament should scrutinise such decisions.

We still have challenging decisions before us. Health boards will make decisions down the line that we cannot even conceive of. We have heard how the paediatric ward at St John's has been saved—the Government referenced that in its amendment. However, recent closures and staffing pressures paint a worrying picture of the future viability of that service. I want to know—because St John's is the hospital of choice of many of my constituents—that if the issue of viability raises its head again, the chamber will have the opportunity to question the cabinet secretary and scrutinise the arguments for the service's retention or closure.

This debate is not about rejecting all organisational redesign but is an opportunity for the cabinet secretary to enlist us as champions of that redesign or for her to think again, if the weight of argument and intervention from the chamber compels her to. I welcome the opportunity that the Labour Party has given us, and the Liberal Democrats will support the motion.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: We move to closing speeches.

16:37

Miles Briggs (Lothian) (Con): I am pleased to close today's debate for the Scottish Conservatives. It has been useful in that it has allowed members from all sides of the chamber to voice constituents' genuine concerns about service changes or downgrades in their areas.

I grew up in rural Perthshire. Any time that I or anyone in my family needed care, we could rely on the highly valued Perth royal infirmary. I am pleased to say that I did not need to call on its services very often when I was growing up, but the same cannot be said for my sister, who fared much worse, with broken arms and other fractures over the years—the life experience of growing up in the countryside.

When thinking about today's debate, I considered just how valued Perth royal infirmary was to our family and how grateful the whole community across Perthshire and Kinross-shire has always been to NHS staff, the vast majority of whom live locally, for the services that they provide. I was therefore saddened to learn of how many of Perth royal infirmary's key services have been lost to the local community in recent years. In fact, since the SNP Government came to power, Perth royal infirmary, which serves one of Scotland's fastest-growing population areas, has seen the continuous removal of services such as the maternity ward, paediatrics, pathology, weekend surgery, emergency surgery, and, most

recently, the GP out-of-hours service, which have all been centralised at Ninewells hospital in Dundee. SNP ministers and health board officials stated that each proposal did not constitute major changes to services. However, it is pretty clear to anyone looking at Perth royal infirmary that the staged removal and closure of services that has taken place over a number of years has ultimately led to the end of PRI as an acute district general hospital.

As it has with all the key hospital services that are mentioned in the Labour motion today, too often the Scottish Government has been satisfied to hide behind health boards' decisions and to support the downgrading and closure of services. The unintended or perhaps intended consequence has been the highly centralised health service that we are seeing being developed in Scotland today.

On services that are currently under threat in Lothian, I welcome the positive case that Alex Cole-Hamilton and Ash Denham made for retaining the cleft palate surgery unit in Edinburgh. I am pleased that, on that issue, SNP members have started to speak out against the proposals. I again call on the Scottish Government not to approve the centralisation of the surgery unit, which we debated in my recent members' business debate on the subject. I welcome the fact that the cabinet secretary has announced that she is due to visit the Edinburgh and Glasgow teams over the next few weeks and I hope that those visits will help to persuade her that the two-site model, which works well in Scotland and in many locations across the United Kingdom, is in the best interests of cleft patients across Scotland.

Daniel Johnson: Does the member agree that, although we can talk about the facts and figures of such cases, the reality, especially for children's surgical services, is disrupted families? Husbands and wives are having to live in separate places and children are not seeing one of their parents for perhaps weeks at a time because they are getting treatment tens or hundreds of miles away from where they live.

Miles Briggs: I very much agree with those points. A key point in the debate is that our NHS belongs to the people whom we serve in Scotland, and the Scotlish Government needs to start working with that in mind as well.

The Government amendment mentions St John's hospital in Livingston, which currently provides cleft palate surgery. However, as I have highlighted in the chamber previously, the cleft services that are located at St John's are delivered by the Edinburgh cleft surgery unit. I am sorry to say that, to date, I am not sure that ministers have grasped the facts around the proposed centralisation of cleft lip and palate surgery in Scotland. Although I do not have time to raise

specific concerns, I have today written to the cabinet secretary to further highlight them.

We need a continued focus by the Scottish Government on recruiting the consultants who are needed to keep key paediatric services at hospitals such as St John's and the Royal Alexandra, rather than a decision simply to centralise those services.

One theme that has emerged during the debate is the lack of confidence that many of our constituents have in the consultation processes that are organised on health board service changes. Jackie Baillie made a passionate speech highlighting the fact that constituents often fear that consultations do not take into account their views or are skewed towards approving decisions that have already been made. I have to say to the Scottish ministers that the idea of a consultation is to listen to the people who are responding.

Ministers talk about patient-focused healthcare and services being as close to patients as possible, but the reality that we see is the constant centralisation of services, which once lost are never returned. As Ross Greer and Donald Cameron said, it is starting to feel as if the centralisation or consolidation of our health services is increasingly being driven by staff shortages in the NHS. The Scottish Government's failure to deliver an NHS workforce plan should not be a reason for the closure of vital local services.

Patients and communities want to know what services will be provided locally and they want to have confidence that those services will be properly maintained and made sustainable. Increasingly, communities feel that they are facing the constant threat that the valued services that they hold so dear will be removed. The SNP Government was elected on a manifesto commitment

"to keep services local and improve the availability of these services".

However, it is clear from today's debate that the SNP is increasingly failing to keep that pledge to communities across Scotland.

16:43

The Minister for Public Health and Sport (Aileen Campbell): What is not in question today is the priority that the people of Scotland afford to the safe stewardship of the NHS. No public services are valued more highly, and I put on record again the Government's sincere appreciation of the unstinting professionalism and commitment that are shown by those who work so tirelessly in our health and social care services.

On that note, it is appropriate to remind ourselves, as Maree Todd and Clare Haughey did, of what one staff body—the RCN—said in its briefing for the debate. It said that, to ensure the longer-term sustainability of services and to meet the needs of an ageing population in the future, health boards need to do things differently. It also said:

"politicians, professionals and the public must be prepared for transformational change and all stakeholders involved with the changes will need to put vested interests to one side and work together to deliver the changes which are so urgently needed."

I genuinely think that we should unite behind that rallying call from the RCN, regardless of political party, as opposed to the approach of Anas Sarwar, who implored us to unite on an irresponsible narrative that is big on grandstanding but short on detail and facts.

As the cabinet secretary pointed out, there is a clear and robust process that should be followed that gives an opportunity for engagement, and no decisions have been made about service changes. The process was set up by statute in 2005 to provide independent oversight in the key area of patient focus and engagement.

Donald Cameron's comments seek to cut across that process. On the one hand, he seemed to accept that it was premature to prejudge the process, but on the other hand, he asked the cabinet secretary to expedite the process. He simply cannot have it both ways. He went on to say that blanket opposition to any change is impossible and that tough decisions need to be taken.

I accept that such discussions are emotive and of huge importance and that it is absolutely right for Opposition parties to hold the Government to account, but the Opposition needs to realise that it needs coherent arguments and that it must be responsible in marshalling the facts. The Government and the cabinet secretary have made clear our responsibilities in taking decisions and in using the clinical and local evidence.

Anas Sarwar: The minister accuses me of grandstanding, but I am here standing up for and representing my constituents. Members such as Bill Kidd, John Mason, Alex Neil, Tom Arthur, Stuart McMillan and George Adam have chosen to stay in their seats and not speak while we are discussing their constituents' services today.

Aileen Campbell: I have heard many members—

Alex Neil: On a point of order, Presiding Officer. For the record, the debate was well oversubscribed, which is why many of us were not selected to speak.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: That is not a point of order, Mr Neil.

Aileen Campbell: I have heard a number of speeches today from back-bench SNP members, who made huge contributions and articulated incredibly well their constituents' needs and desires. What has been said follows on from my point about Anas Sarwar's grandstanding when he rose to his feet earlier.

I want to talk about Elaine Smith—

Neil Findlay (Lothian) (Lab): Will the member take an intervention?

Aileen Campbell: I am sorry, but Mr Findlay was not in the debate, and I am sure that other members will want to interject later in response to my comments.

On Elaine Smith's point, I have no doubt about her commitment to Monklands hospital, unlike the rest of her party nearly 10 years ago. However, she failed to recognise the £65 million that has been spent on Monklands over the past five years—on a new critical care unit, upgrading operating theatres, a new Lanarkshire Beatson satellite radiotherapy centre, a new pathology unit and extensive refurbishment of the mental health unit. That is a clear commitment to the hospital from the SNP Government.

Elaine Smith: Will the minister give way?

Aileen Campbell: I will make this point for clarity and then I will let Elaine Smith in. I understand that, although NHS Lanarkshire could not make the meeting that it was asked to attend at incredibly short notice, it has offered to work with her on an alternative date.

Elaine Smith: Many thanks—NHS Lanarkshire has indeed made that offer but, unfortunately, I have just found out that the meeting will be a dropin session and not a public meeting, which I do not think is acceptable.

Will the minister recognise that Karen Whitefield and I, in arguing against the proposals, got commitments on things such as the Beatson? I therefore recognise that those services are now at Monklands hospital.

Aileen Campbell: The member failed to make her point in any way at all. She failed to recognise entirely the Government's commitment in saving Monklands A and E and in further enhancing the services that are provided at the hospital.

Ross Greer made a number of valid points that will need to be addressed in the engagement process that is under way. He made a good point regarding the clarity of communication, which holds true for all our public bodies and not just for the NHS.

Ivan McKee raised the issue of deprivation and highlighted the inequalities in the constituency that he represents and the additional barriers that they create for access to services. That must be borne in mind in designing those services.

I know that Neil Bibby and I will disagree on a number of issues in the debate. However, on the theme of listening and engagement, I do not think that anyone could fail to have been moved by the accounts that he read out from the families who have incredibly strong views about the future of the hospital in their area. Of course those views must shape and hone the decision-making process. Likewise, Clare Haughey excellently articulated, with a great deal of authority, the wider changes that we need in healthcare and especially in mental health, on which work will be taken forward by my colleague Maureen Watt.

There has been mention of the need to ensure that the NHS has enough resources. Ash Denham set out the challenging backdrop against which the debate is taking place.

I remind the Opposition that the Government has ensured that health spending in Scotland during 2016-17 has risen to a record level of close to £13 billion, despite Westminster cutting Scotland's fiscal budget by 10.6 per cent in real terms between 2010-11 and 2019-20. We have increased the front-line health budget by 8.2 per cent in real terms between 2010-11 and 2016-17 and we will continue to provide real-terms protection.

In 2016-17, territorial health boards have seen a 5.5 per cent increase in budget levels. The funding includes investment of an additional £250 million to support the integration of health and social care.

Brian Whittle made some inaccurate claims, so I will clear up the position for him—every penny of health resource consequentials has been passed on in full since 2010-11, plus an extra £54 million last year. That will increase the NHS revenue budget by £500 million more than inflation—that is nearly £2 billion over the lifetime of the parliamentary session.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: You must close, please, minister.

Aileen Campbell: With the record of increased numbers of staff, including front-line staff, and increased investment, we have a clear plan for the NHS and we will continue to engage with the population. Opposition members must understand that they need to have their facts right before they come and grandstand in the chamber.

16:51

Colin Smyth (South Scotland) (Lab): I refer members to my entry in the register of members'

interests, which shows that I was employed by Parkinson's UK when I was elected in May, although that employment has ceased.

In today's debate, we have heard the voices of thousands of concerned families from across Scotland. Member after member has stood up for their constituents and sent the clear message to the Scottish Government that it is time to listen.

We heard the voices of people in West Dunbartonshire when Jackie Baillie spoke passionately on their behalf to expose the attempt to cut by stealth maternity services at the Vale of Leven hospital. We heard the voices of people in Renfrewshire and in Inverclyde when Neil Bibby spoke up for his constituents and continued his fight to save the children's ward at the Royal Alexandra hospital and maternity services at Inverclyde hospital. We heard the voices of people Lanarkshire when Elaine Smith championed Monklands hospital and highlighted community concerns over plans to axe in-patient orthopaedics at Monklands. We heard the voices of people in Glasgow when Anas Sarwar spoke about the impact on the availability of care for some of our older, most vulnerable residents if the closure of Lightburn hospital goes ahead.

What we also heard is that those concerns cut across party lines. It was not just Labour members who spoke passionately about their communities—Donald Cameron, Brian Whittle and Alex Cole-Hamilton rightly asked why the cabinet secretary does not seem even to have a view yet on whether the plans that are before us are major service changes.

Daniel Johnson, Ash Denham and Miles Briggs raised concerns on their constituents' behalf about plans to centralise cleft palate services away from Edinburgh. Ross Greer rightly highlighted the concerns of his west of Scotland constituents about the lack of public engagement in the planned changes in his area.

It is clear that the concerns that have been raised today unite members across party lines, which is what Anas Sarwar called for. More important, it is clear that those concerns represent the views of a growing number of people in the communities that we are here to represent.

Earlier today, along with a number of members, I had the pleasure of meeting representatives from the KNOW campaign from the Royal Alexandra hospital, the save our services campaign at the Vale of Leven hospital, the campaign against the downgrading of the centre for integrative care at Gartnavel, the cleft services campaign, the save the Lightburn hospital campaign and those campaigning to protect services at Monklands.

Gerry McCann, who is the chair of the east Glasgow Parkinson's support group, told me how the closure of Lightburn would impact on people with Parkinson's—a condition that I know is debilitating for those who live with it every day. He also told me how that closure will impact on those with heart failure and dementia and those who have suffered strokes—some of the frailest people in an area with some of the poorest health in Scotland.

Gerry McCann told me about the campaign that he led against the closure of Lightburn hospital in 2011. He cannot understand why the proposed closure of the last in-patient facility in the east end of Glasgow was deemed a major service change in 2011 but not now—not so far—even though the evidence that it is a major change is already clear.

Those campaigners took the time to come to Parliament today to share their stories with us. It is therefore a disgrace that the SNP amendment pretends that those communities and those concerns do not exist. As if in a scene from George Orwell's "Nineteen Eighty-Four", the cabinet secretary's Newspeak amendment would airbrush out any reference whatsoever to the word "concerns". It does not even mention the services that we are here to debate. Well, I can tell the cabinet secretary that those communities have concerns and that they want the Government to face up to its responsibilities.

As several members have highlighted, and as the Scottish health council's guidance states clearly,

"The decision on whether a service change should be regarded as major ... rests with Scottish Ministers."

I know that the proposals that we are debating are major service changes. The patients groups that are here today know that they are major service changes. As Neil Bibby said, it would be good to know when the cabinet secretary will decide whether she will take the decision on those services. That is the least that the Scottish Government needs to do because, ultimately, the reason why many of the plans are being considered is, as Jeremy Balfour highlighted, a direct result of the funding challenges that health boards face.

When I made my first speech on health in the chamber in June, I said that we needed to have an honest debate about the future funding of the NHS. We all accept that we have an ageing population and more people with complex care needs. However, despite a growing demand for services, local health boards are still being hit by significant health savings targets that cannot be achieved without impacting on services.

This year, my local health board, NHS Dumfries and Galloway, has to make so-called savings of £13 million. NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde must make savings of £69 million, and NHS

Lanarkshire must save £45 million. It is those cuts that are driving many of the changes that we are debating. They come at a time when the NHS has a struggle to recruit and retain staff, which is exacerbated by the number of unfilled trainee and specialist posts.

One in four of our GP practices reports a vacancy, and we have a ticking time bomb of GPs queueing up to retire. In my health board area—NHS Dumfries and Galloway—the number of GPs has fallen from 134 in 2012 to 118 in 2016. Just today, I received a letter from NHS Dumfries and Galloway that highlights the fact that it cannot recruit two out of the three GPs that are needed to maintain the GP practice on Moffat High Street. Those vacancies will be covered by locums in the short term, and then the NHS plans to merge practices and close the outreach surgeries that are held in the villages of Wanlockhead and Crawford to manage that crisis in GP recruitment.

The letter says that

"there are an increasing number of GP practices that are unable to continue to provide services".

The Royal College of General Practitioners has predicted that, by 2020, Scotland will have a shortfall of 830 GPs, which would be needed just to return to 2009 levels. I say to the cabinet secretary that, if that is not a GP crisis, I certainly do not know what is.

It is not just in GP numbers that we have that crisis. There are more than 350 consultant vacancies, nearly half of which have been vacant for more than six months. There are 2,500 nursing and midwifery vacancies, including more than 300 unfilled mental health nurse posts. The consequence of high vacancy rates and training posts going unfilled across the NHS is an increase in the burdens on existing medical staff, which are adding to an already unsustainable workload and, as we have heard today, the closure of facilities across Scotland.

Despite that, the SNP has after 10 years in power lodged an amendment that simply says, "There is no problem. Nothing to see here. Simply move on." The amendment treats communities with contempt by failing even to acknowledge that there are local concerns across Scotland. It fails to mention the very services that we are debating; many of the SNP members who represent the affected areas have been posted missing, and SNP members from as far away as possible have been drafted in to talk about anything other than the motion that is before us.

I say to members in the chamber that it is the motion that we will be voting on and that it is the communities and areas that the motion mentions that they must make a decision on. **Aileen Campbell:** The member mentioned that already.

Colin Smyth: I also mentioned the areas that the motion covers, unlike the Government's amendment. I urge members across the chamber to stand up for the communities that they represent, to recognise those communities' concerns and to support the motion that is before

The Presiding Officer (Ken Macintosh): That concludes our debate on protecting local NHS services.

Rhoda Grant (Highlands and Islands) (Lab): On a point of order, Presiding Officer. How many members requested to speak in the debate but were not called?

The Presiding Officer: That is not a point of order, Ms Grant, but I will find out and return to you after decision time.

Business Motion

16:59

The Presiding Officer (Ken Macintosh): The next item of business is consideration of business motion S4M-01737, in the name of Joe FitzPatrick, on behalf of the Parliamentary Bureau, setting out a business programme. Members will be aware that a new business motion has been lodged to accommodate a Finance Committee debate next week.

Motion moved,

That the Parliament agrees the following programme of business—

Tuesday 4 October 2016

Tuesday 4 October	31 2010		
2.00 pm	Time for Reflection		
followed by	Parliamentary Bureau Motions		
followed by	Topical Questions (if selected)		
followed by	Finance Committee Debate: Timetable for the Scottish Draft Budget 2017-18		
followed by	Scottish Government Debate: Implications of the EU Referendum on Higher and Further Education		
followed by	Business Motions		
followed by	Parliamentary Bureau Motions		
5.30 pm	Decision Time		
followed by	Members' Business		
Wednesday 5 October 2016			
2.00 pm	Parliamentary Bureau Motions		
2.00 pm	Portfolio Questions Health and Sport		
followed by	Scottish Government Debate: Devolution of Employment Services		

followed by	Scottish Devolution of	Government Employment Serv	Debate: ices
followed by	Business Mo	tions	
followed by	Parliamentary	/ Bureau Motions	
5.00 pm	Decision Tim	е	
followed by	Members' Bu	siness	

Thursday 6 October 2016		
11.40 am	Parliamentary Bureau Motions	
11.40 am	General Questions	
12.00 pm	First Minister's Questions	
12.45 pm	Members' Business	
2.30 pm	Parliamentary Bureau Motions	
2.30 pm	Scottish Government Debate: Draft BBC Charter	
followed by	Business Motions	
followed by	Parliamentary Bureau Motions	

5.00 pm Decision Time
Tuesday 25 October 2016

2.00 pm	Time for Reflection	
followed by	Parliamentary Bureau Motions	
followed by	Topical Questions (if selected)	
followed by	Scottish Government Business	
followed by	Business Motions	
followed by	Parliamentary Bureau Motions	
5.00 pm	Decision Time	
followed by	Members' Business	
Wednesday 26 O	ctober 2016	
2.00 pm	Parliamentary Bureau Motions	
2.00 pm	Portfolio Questions Communities, Social Security and Equalities	
followed by	Scottish Government Business	
followed by	Business Motions	
followed by	Parliamentary Bureau Motions	
5.00 pm	Decision Time	
followed by	Members' Business	
Thursday 27 Octo	ber 2016	
11.40 am	Parliamentary Bureau Motions	
11.40 am	General Questions	
12.00 pm	First Minister's Questions	
12.45 pm	Members' Business	
2.30 pm	Parliamentary Bureau Motions	
2.30 pm	Scottish Government Business	
followed by	Business Motions	

followed by Parliamentary Bureau Motions

5.00 pm Decision Time—[Joe FitzPatrick.]

Motion agreed to.

Parliamentary Bureau Motions

Decision Time

17:00

The Presiding Officer (Ken Macintosh): The next item of business is consideration of four Parliamentary Bureau motions. I invite Joe FitzPatrick to move motion S5M-01691, on a variation of standing orders, and motions S5M-01694 to S5M-01696, on approval of Scottish statutory instruments.

Motions moved,

That the Parliament agrees that, in relation to First Minister's Questions on 6 October—

(i) in the first sentence of Rule 13.7.A1 "30 minutes" be replaced with "45 minutes";

and

(ii) in Rule 13.6.2 "6" be replaced with "8".

That the Parliament agrees that the Children and Young People (Scotland) Act 2014 (Part 4 and Part 5 Complaints) Revocation Order 2016 [draft] be approved.

That the Parliament agrees that the Prohibited Procedures on Protected Animals (Exemptions) (Scotland) Amendment Regulations 2016 [draft] be approved.

That the Parliament agrees that the Public Appointments and Public Bodies etc. (Scotland) Act 2003 (Treatment of Crown Estate Scotland (Interim Management) as Specified Authority) Order 2016 [draft] be approved.—[Joe FitzPatrick.]

The Presiding Officer: The questions on the motions will be put at decision time, to which we now come.

17:00

The Presiding Officer (Ken Macintosh): There are three questions to be put as a result of today's business.

The first question is, that amendment S5M-01677.1, in the name of Shona Robison, which seeks to amend motion S5M-01677, in the name of Anas Sarwar, on protecting local national health services, be agreed to. Are we agreed?

Members: No.

The Presiding Officer: There will be a division.

For

Adam, George (Paisley) (SNP) Adamson, Clare (Motherwell and Wishaw) (SNP) Allan, Dr Alasdair (Na h-Eileanan an Iar) (SNP) Arthur, Tom (Renfrewshire South) (SNP) Beattie, Colin (Midlothian North and Musselburgh) (SNP) Brown, Keith (Clackmannanshire and Dunblane) (SNP) Campbell, Aileen (Clydesdale) (SNP) Coffey, Willie (Kilmarnock and Irvine Valley) (SNP) Constance, Angela (Almond Valley) (SNP) Crawford, Bruce (Stirling) (SNP) Cunningham, Roseanna (Perthshire South and Kinrossshire) (SNP) Denham, Ash (Edinburgh Eastern) (SNP) Dey, Graeme (Angus South) (SNP) Doris, Bob (Glasgow Maryhill and Springburn) (SNP) Dornan, James (Glasgow Cathcart) (SNP) Evans, Mairi (Angus North and Mearns) (SNP) Ewing, Annabelle (Cowdenbeath) (SNP) Ewing, Fergus (Inverness and Nairn) (SNP) Fabiani, Linda (East Kilbride) (SNP) FitzPatrick, Joe (Dundee City West) (SNP) Forbes, Kate (Skye, Lochaber and Badenoch) (SNP) Freeman, Jeane (Carrick, Cumnock and Doon Valley) Gibson, Kenneth (Cunninghame North) (SNP) Gilruth, Jenny (Mid Fife and Glenrothes) (SNP) Grahame, Christine (Midlothian South, Tweeddale and Lauderdale) (SNP) Harper, Emma (South Scotland) (SNP) Haughey, Clare (Rutherglen) (SNP) Hepburn, Jamie (Cumbernauld and Kilsyth) (SNP) Hyslop, Fiona (Linlithgow) (SNP) Kidd, Bill (Glasgow Anniesland) (SNP) Lochhead, Richard (Moray) (SNP) Lyle, Richard (Uddingston and Bellshill) (SNP) MacDonald, Angus (Falkirk East) (SNP) MacDonald, Gordon (Edinburgh Pentlands) (SNP) MacGregor, Fulton (Coatbridge and Chryston) (SNP) Mackay, Derek (Renfrewshire North and West) (SNP) Mackay, Rona (Strathkelvin and Bearsden) (SNP) Macpherson, Ben (Edinburgh Northern and Leith) (SNP) Maguire, Ruth (Cunninghame South) (SNP) Martin, Gillian (Aberdeenshire East) (SNP) Mason, John (Glasgow Shettleston) (SNP) Matheson, Michael (Falkirk West) (SNP)

McAlpine, Joan (South Scotland) (SNP) McDonald, Mark (Aberdeen Donside) (SNP) McKee, Ivan (Glasgow Provan) (SNP)

McKelvie, Christina (Hamilton, Larkhall and Stonehouse)

McMillan, Stuart (Greenock and Inverclyde) (SNP)

Neil, Alex (Airdrie and Shotts) (SNP) Paterson, Gil (Clydebank and Milngavie) (SNP)

Robison, Shona (Dundee City East) (SNP)

Ross, Gail (Caithness, Sutherland and Ross) (SNP)

Russell, Michael (Argyll and Bute) (SNP) Somerville, Shirley-Anne (Dunfermline) (SNP)

Stevenson, Stewart (Banffshire and Buchan Coast) (SNP)

Stewart, Kevin (Aberdeen Central) (SNP) Sturgeon, Nicola (Glasgow Southside) (SNP)

Swinney, John (Perthshire North) (SNP) Todd, Maree (Highlands and Islands) (SNP)

Watt, Maureen (Aberdeen South and North Kincardine)

Wheelhouse, Paul (South Scotland) (SNP) White, Sandra (Glasgow Kelvin) (SNP) Yousaf, Humza (Glasgow Pollok) (SNP)

Against

Baillie, Jackie (Dumbarton) (Lab)

Baker, Claire (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab)

Balfour, Jeremy (Lothian) (Con)

Beamish, Claudia (South Scotland) (Lab)

Bibby, Neil (West Scotland) (Lab)

Briggs, Miles (Lothian) (Con)

Burnett, Alexander (Aberdeenshire West) (Con)

Cameron, Donald (Highlands and Islands) (Con)

Carlaw, Jackson (Eastwood) (Con)

Carson, Finlay (Galloway and West Dumfries) (Con)

Chapman, Peter (North East Scotland) (Con) Cole-Hamilton, Alex (Edinburgh Western) (LD)

Corry, Maurice (West Scotland) (Con)

Davidson, Ruth (Edinburgh Central) (Con)

Dugdale, Kezia (Lothian) (Lab)

Fee, Mary (West Scotland) (Lab)

Findlay, Neil (Lothian) (Lab)

Finnie, John (Highlands and Islands) (Green)

Fraser, Murdo (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con)

Golden, Maurice (West Scotland) (Con)

Grant, Rhoda (Highlands and Islands) (Lab)

Gray, Iain (East Lothian) (Lab)

Greene, Jamie (West Scotland) (Con)

Greer, Ross (West Scotland) (Green)

Griffin, Mark (Central Scotland) (Lab)

Hamilton, Rachael (South Scotland) (Con)

Harris, Alison (Central Scotland) (Con)

Johnson, Daniel (Edinburgh Southern) (Lab)

Johnstone, Alex (North East Scotland) (Con)

Johnstone, Alison (Lothian) (Green)

Kelly, James (Glasgow) (Lab)

Kerr, Liam (North East Scotland) (Con)

Lamont, Johann (Glasgow) (Lab)

Lamont, John (Ettrick, Roxburgh and Berwickshire) (Con)

Lennon, Monica (Central Scotland) (Lab)

Leonard, Richard (Central Scotland) (Lab)

Lindhurst, Gordon (Lothian) (Con)

Lockhart, Dean (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con)

Macdonald, Lewis (North East Scotland) (Lab)

Marra, Jenny (North East Scotland) (Lab)

McArthur, Liam (Orkney Islands) (LD) McNeill, Pauline (Glasgow) (Lab)

Mitchell, Margaret (Central Scotland) (Con)

Mountain, Edward (Highlands and Islands) (Con)

Mundell, Oliver (Dumfriesshire) (Con)

Rennie, Willie (North East Fife) (LD)

Ross, Douglas (Highlands and Islands) (Con)

Rowley, Alex (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab)

Rumbles, Mike (North East Scotland) (LD)

Ruskell, Mark (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Green)

Sarwar, Anas (Glasgow) (Lab)

Scott, John (Ayr) (Con)

Scott, Tavish (Shetland Islands) (LD) Simpson, Graham (Central Scotland) (Con) Smith, Elaine (Central Scotland) (Lab)

Smith, Liz (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con)

Smyth, Colin (South Scotland) (Lab)

Stewart, Alexander (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con)

Stewart, David (Highlands and Islands) (Lab)

Thomson, Ross (North East Scotland) (Con)

Tomkins, Adam (Glasgow) (Con)

Wells, Annie (Glasgow) (Con)

Whittle, Brian (South Scotland) (Con)

Wightman, Andy (Lothian) (Green)

The Presiding Officer: The result of the division is: For 62, Against 64, Abstentions 0.

Amendment disagreed to.

The Presiding Officer: The next question is, that motion S5M-01677, in the name of Anas Sarwar, on protecting local national health services, be agreed to. Are we agreed?

Members: No.

The Presiding Officer: There will be a division.

For

Baillie, Jackie (Dumbarton) (Lab)

Baker, Claire (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab)

Balfour, Jeremy (Lothian) (Con)

Beamish, Claudia (South Scotland) (Lab)

Bibby, Neil (West Scotland) (Lab)

Briggs, Miles (Lothian) (Con)

Burnett, Alexander (Aberdeenshire West) (Con)

Cameron, Donald (Highlands and Islands) (Con)

Carlaw, Jackson (Eastwood) (Con)

Carson, Finlay (Galloway and West Dumfries) (Con)

Chapman, Peter (North East Scotland) (Con)

Cole-Hamilton, Alex (Edinburgh Western) (LD)

Corry, Maurice (West Scotland) (Con) Davidson, Ruth (Edinburgh Central) (Con)

Dugdale, Kezia (Lothian) (Lab)

Fee, Mary (West Scotland) (Lab)

Findlay, Neil (Lothian) (Lab)

Finnie, John (Highlands and Islands) (Green)

Fraser, Murdo (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con)

Golden, Maurice (West Scotland) (Con)

Grant, Rhoda (Highlands and Islands) (Lab)

Gray, Iain (East Lothian) (Lab)

Greene, Jamie (West Scotland) (Con)

Greer, Ross (West Scotland) (Green)

Griffin, Mark (Central Scotland) (Lab)

Hamilton, Rachael (South Scotland) (Con)

Harris, Alison (Central Scotland) (Con)

Johnson, Daniel (Edinburgh Southern) (Lab) Johnstone, Alex (North East Scotland) (Con)

Johnstone, Alison (Lothian) (Green)

Kelly, James (Glasgow) (Lab)

Kerr, Liam (North East Scotland) (Con)

Lamont, Johann (Glasgow) (Lab)

Lamont, John (Ettrick, Roxburgh and Berwickshire) (Con)

Lennon, Monica (Central Scotland) (Lab) Leonard, Richard (Central Scotland) (Lab)

Lindhurst, Gordon (Lothian) (Con)

Lockhart, Dean (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con)

Macdonald, Lewis (North East Scotland) (Lab)

Marra, Jenny (North East Scotland) (Lab)

McArthur, Liam (Orkney Islands) (LD) McNeill, Pauline (Glasgow) (Lab)

Mitchell, Margaret (Central Scotland) (Con) Mountain, Edward (Highlands and Islands) (Con)

Mundell, Oliver (Dumfriesshire) (Con)

Rennie, Willie (North East Fife) (LD)

Ross, Douglas (Highlands and Islands) (Con)

Rowley, Alex (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab) Rumbles, Mike (North East Scotland) (LD) Ruskell, Mark (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Green) Sarwar, Anas (Glasgow) (Lab) Scott, John (Ayr) (Con) Scott, Tavish (Shetland Islands) (LD) Simpson, Graham (Central Scotland) (Con) Smith, Elaine (Central Scotland) (Lab) Smith, Liz (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con) Smyth, Colin (South Scotland) (Lab) Stewart, Alexander (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con) Stewart, David (Highlands and Islands) (Lab) Thomson, Ross (North East Scotland) (Con) Tomkins, Adam (Glasgow) (Con) Wells, Annie (Glasgow) (Con) Whittle, Brian (South Scotland) (Con) Wightman, Andy (Lothian) (Green)

Abstentions Adam, George (Paisley) (SNP) Adamson, Clare (Motherwell and Wishaw) (SNP) Allan, Dr Alasdair (Na h-Eileanan an Iar) (SNP) Arthur, Tom (Renfrewshire South) (SNP) Beattie, Colin (Midlothian North and Musselburgh) (SNP) Brown, Keith (Clackmannanshire and Dunblane) (SNP) Campbell, Aileen (Clydesdale) (SNP) Coffey, Willie (Kilmarnock and Irvine Valley) (SNP) Constance, Angela (Almond Valley) (SNP) Crawford, Bruce (Stirling) (SNP) Cunningham, Roseanna (Perthshire South and Kinrossshire) (SNP) Denham, Ash (Edinburgh Eastern) (SNP) Dey, Graeme (Angus South) (SNP) Doris, Bob (Glasgow Maryhill and Springburn) (SNP) Dornan, James (Glasgow Cathcart) (SNP) Evans, Mairi (Angus North and Mearns) (SNP) Ewing, Annabelle (Cowdenbeath) (SNP) Ewing, Fergus (Inverness and Nairn) (SNP) Fabiani, Linda (East Kilbride) (SNP) FitzPatrick, Joe (Dundee City West) (SNP) Forbes, Kate (Skye, Lochaber and Badenoch) (SNP) Freeman, Jeane (Carrick, Cumnock and Doon Valley) Gibson, Kenneth (Cunninghame North) (SNP) Gilruth, Jenny (Mid Fife and Glenrothes) (SNP) Grahame, Christine (Midlothian South, Tweeddale and Lauderdale) (SNP) Harper, Emma (South Scotland) (SNP) Haughey, Clare (Rutherglen) (SNP) Hepburn, Jamie (Cumbernauld and Kilsyth) (SNP) Hyslop, Fiona (Linlithgow) (SNP) Kidd, Bill (Glasgow Anniesland) (SNP) Lochhead, Richard (Moray) (SNP) Lyle, Richard (Uddingston and Bellshill) (SNP) MacDonald, Angus (Falkirk East) (SNP) MacDonald, Gordon (Edinburgh Pentlands) (SNP) MacGregor, Fulton (Coatbridge and Chryston) (SNP) Mackay, Derek (Renfrewshire North and West) (SNP) Mackay, Rona (Strathkelvin and Bearsden) (SNP) Macpherson, Ben (Edinburgh Northern and Leith) (SNP) Maguire, Ruth (Cunninghame South) (SNP) Martin, Gillian (Aberdeenshire East) (SNP) Mason, John (Glasgow Shettleston) (SNP)

Matheson, Michael (Falkirk West) (SNP) McAlpine, Joan (South Scotland) (SNP)

McKee, Ivan (Glasgow Provan) (SNP)

Neil, Alex (Airdrie and Shotts) (SNP)

(SNP)

McDonald, Mark (Aberdeen Donside) (SNP)

McKelvie, Christina (Hamilton, Larkhall and Stonehouse)

McMillan, Stuart (Greenock and Inverclyde) (SNP)

Paterson, Gil (Clydebank and Milngavie) (SNP)

Robison, Shona (Dundee City East) (SNP)
Ross, Gail (Caithness, Sutherland and Ross) (SNP)
Russell, Michael (Argyll and Bute) (SNP)
Somerville, Shirley-Anne (Dunfermline) (SNP)
Stevenson, Stewart (Banffshire and Buchan Coast) (SNP)
Stewart, Kevin (Aberdeen Central) (SNP)
Sturgeon, Nicola (Glasgow Southside) (SNP)
Swinney, John (Perthshire North) (SNP)
Todd, Maree (Highlands and Islands) (SNP)
Watt, Maureen (Aberdeen South and North Kincardine) (SNP)
Wheelhouse, Paul (South Scotland) (SNP)
White, Sandra (Glasgow Kelvin) (SNP)
Yousaf, Humza (Glasgow Pollok) (SNP)

The Presiding Officer: The result of the division is: For 64, Against 0, Abstentions 62.

Motion agreed to,

That the Parliament notes the widespread public concern over proposals to downgrade valued local services, including maternity services at the Vale of Leven Hospital, paediatric services at the Royal Alexandra Hospital, maternity services at Inverclyde Hospital, trauma orthopaedics at Monklands Hospital, inpatient services at the Centre for Integrative Care, cleft palate services at the Royal Hospital for Sick Children and the closure of the Lightburn Hospital; believes that all these proposals constitute major changes in service provision, and therefore calls on the Scottish Government to call in these proposals, as set out by NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde, NHS Lanarkshire and NHS Lothian, for ministerial decision.

The Presiding Officer: The final question is, that motion S5M-01691, on a variation of standing orders, and motions S5M-01694 to S5M-01696, on approval of Scottish statutory instruments, all in the name of Joe FitzPatrick, be agreed to.

Motions agreed to.

That the Parliament agrees that, in relation to First Minister's Questions on 6 October—

(i) in the first sentence of Rule 13.7.A1 "30 minutes" be replaced with "45 minutes";

and

(ii) in Rule 13.6.2 "6" be replaced with "8".

That the Parliament agrees that the Children and Young People (Scotland) Act 2014 (Part 4 and Part 5 Complaints) Revocation Order 2016 [draft] be approved.

That the Parliament agrees that the Prohibited Procedures on Protected Animals (Exemptions) (Scotland) Amendment Regulations 2016 [draft] be approved.

That the Parliament agrees that the Public Appointments and Public Bodies etc. (Scotland) Act 2003 (Treatment of Crown Estate Scotland (Interim Management) as Specified Authority) Order 2016 [draft] be approved.

Anas Sarwar (Glasgow) (Lab): On a point of order, Presiding Officer. I seek clarification from you. Today, Parliament has clearly stated its will that the proposed national health service changes and downgrades should be called in for ministerial decision. Will the Cabinet Secretary for Health and Sport take this opportunity to say that she will accept the will of Parliament, recognise the

mandate that she has been given and call in the changes to NHS services?

The Presiding Officer: If it is a point for the Government, the Government can respond in its own time; if it is a point for the chair, it is for me to respond.

Resolutions of the Parliament are not binding. If the Government wishes to respond to or act on the will of Parliament, that is up to the Government. The question that has been asked is not one for the Government to respond to—[Interruption.] I ask members to speak through the chair, please.

That concludes decision time.

Residential Road Safety

The Deputy Presiding Officer (Christine Grahame): The final item of business is a members' business debate on motion S5M-01541, in the name of Mark Ruskell, on action on residential road safety. The debate will be concluded without any question being put.

Motion debated,

That the Parliament welcomes the efforts of communities across Scotland, including in Mid-Scotland and Fife, who are working to improve safety on residential roads through schemes such as 20's Plenty; understands that there has been a welcome and significant drop in casualties on the country's roads over the last decade but recognises that every death or serious injury is a tragedy, and supports further action to make roads safer for all, especially people who are considered the most vulnerable.

17:06

Mark Ruskell (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Green): I thank the members who signed my motion to bring about the debate tonight, and I also thank in advance those who will contribute, including the minister.

I pay tribute to the many people across Scotland who campaign for road safety improvements, from toucan crossings to yellow lines, increased space for walking and cycling, and importantly, the reduction in the speed limit from the default 30mph to 20mph. We have also seen strong national campaigning around the issue of parking on pavements and double parking, and I welcome the decisive contribution that Sandra White's member's bill made to that debate and the resulting commitment from the Scottish Government.

Community councils, parent councils and informal neighbourhood action groups are working hard across Scotland and being supported by the work of local authorities and organisations such as Living Streets and Sustrans in helping to understand the problems and design the right interventions to encourage safer and more liveable neighbourhoods for all. I have been particularly impressed by the work of schools such as Bridge of Allan primary school, whose junior road safety officers have run, with the police, an active stop and interview programme with speeding drivers at the roadside. That is an empowering step up from the Tufty club of the 1970s, when children were advised to hold mother's hand-rather than a speed gun-when stepping out of the house.

Clare Adamson (Motherwell and Wishaw) (SNP): I thank Mr Ruskell for taking my intervention and I look forward to taking part in the debate. However, he might have to explain what the Tufty club is, because I suspect that the minister might be a little bit young for that.

Mark Ruskell: I would be happy to do that and there is a whole range of interesting YouTube videos that feature the Tufty club. I have been showing them to my children and they cannot really believe it.

All those groups recognise that the reduction of speed where people live is the foundation of reducing casualty numbers and building confidence for all to walk, push, cycle and scoot. When we consider the most vulnerable in our society-children, those who have physical disabilities and those who have dementia-we are creating safer neighbourhoods and fairer places to live by reducing speed. By reducing speed we are also reducing social isolation by encouraging people to get out and about, to play, to visit, to meet up and to shop. I hope that members across all parties will now recognise the large body of evidence that links speed with the fatality rate, which at 30mph is 20 per cent while at 20mph it is only 3 per cent.

Scotland is on track to meet its 2020 targets for a 40 per cent reduction in road fatalities from the 2004 baseline. I welcome that, but there is no room for complacency, especially when we consider that, in the United Kingdom, pedestrian, cyclist and motorcyclist deaths make up 50 per cent of road fatalities overall, which contrasts with only two fifths of such deaths in Sweden. It is clear that a particular focus on vulnerable road users is needed in our approach.

It is crystal clear that 20mph limits work. They result in a reduction in average speed across the road network of 1mph to 2mph; that might seem unimpressive, but when we consider that for every 1mph reduction in speed, there is a concurrent 5 to 6 per cent reduction in casualties, I hope that we can all agree that 20mph limits have a real impact on real people.

Since the 30mph speed limit was introduced as the urban default in 1934—after a campaign by Living Streets, which at the time was called the Pedestrian Association—the evidence on and understanding of road safety has moved on, with Living Streets today being among the growing number of bodies from 20's plenty to the British Heart Foundation and Brake that are calling for us to move into the 21st century by dropping the limit to 20mph in residential areas.

That reflects a growing recognition that the benefits of reducing speed limits to 20mph are multifaceted and extend beyond safety to wider health and environmental benefits. With physical inactivity costing health budgets in the UK nearly £11 billion every year, we need a step change. That is why, for example, it was a director of public health and not of roads who made the investment in a 20mph roll-out across Manchester.

We also face air quality problems, particularly from nitrous oxide emissions, which studies show are reduced, particularly from diesel cars, when speed drops. Although data on direct carbon emissions is inconclusive, the impact of even a slight modal shift to walking and cycling for short journeys makes a valuable contribution to our stumbling progress in reducing transport emissions in Scotland.

Where councils—such as Fife Council—have made significant progress in building a network of popular 20mph zones, they have seen cycle trips increase by 20 per cent, while Edinburgh has seen both cycle trips increase and permissions for children to play outside double.

The progression from the initial advisory 20's plenty zones in the early noughties to the roll-out of mandatory 20mph zones has been welcome even if, at times, it has been a postcode lottery in Scotland. Where such zones have been introduced, public support is high, with one survey showing 68 per cent support post introduction. However, the piecemeal roll-out has come with challenges, complexities and costs, which could be addressed by the introduction of a 20mph default limit in residential areas.

Let us consider the traffic regulation order process. It is a time-consuming and costly approach for councils to establish a patchwork of small, discrete 20mph zones. The transition from 30mph to 20mph in residential areas requires signage and speed bumps, which are unpopular with drivers. It costs seven and a half times more per mile to regulate with speed bumps than it does with a neighbourhood-wide 20mph limit, and it is harder for the police to enforce a patchwork of 20mph and 30mph zones, where drivers can claim confusion surrounding the point at which they left one zone and entered another.

I visited Bridge of Allan primary school, which, like most schools, is in a residential area with its own 20mph zone, but the school zones typically extend only a few hundred metres beyond the gates, ignoring the fact that, on average, children travel nearly 2km to school. If we are convinced of the benefits of a 20mph limit at the school gate, why not extend those benefits to the whole route of the average school journey through a neighbourhood?

It is no wonder that a more universal approach to establishing 20mph as the default residential limit was unanimously welcomed by council representatives at a recent Scottish conference that discussed the best way forward to secure progress. Edinburgh has begun its city-wide rollout, but it has faced some early challenges in rolling out a coherent scheme that is easily understood by road users. It has been hampered by the piecemeal TRO approach. A far simpler

and more elegant approach for councils throughout Scotland would be to flip 30mph with 20mph as the default limit in residential areas. That would allow councils to then exempt key roads through settlements that genuinely require a higher speed limit of 30mph.

This Parliament has taken bold steps in the past, such as the ban on smoking in public places. If we are convinced of the benefits of a 20mph speed limit in residential areas for the safety of our people and the wellbeing of our places, let us take a similar step and use the Parliament's powers to make it a default limit for Scotland.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: We move to the open debate. I ask for speeches of four minutes.

17:13

Alex Johnstone (North East Scotland) (Con): I congratulate Mark Ruskell on bringing this debate to the chamber. I will offer what I hope he will understand is my conditional support.

It is clear that changes that have taken place, particularly the introduction of the 20's plenty zones, have had a significant effect in improving road safety. As we have moved forward in considering and applying 20mph zones, we have found ourselves in a position where there is growing pressure for increased areas to be covered by such zones.

I have no objection to the use of 20mph zones in built-up areas, and of course they have a particular value outside schools and other public buildings, especially where children may be close to the road and, at times, perhaps not entirely under the control of their parents, in the case of the younger ones.

It is nonetheless important that we take a clear view on how best to progress this matter. It worries me that we find ourselves moving forward occasionally into a situation where an assumption is made that, if it is a good thing to reduce speed, reducing it further and extending these speed-limit zones must of course be better. I am not entirely convinced that that is the case, so I will take this opportunity to raise one or two of my concerns in that regard.

As I pointed out, what I have to say is not necessarily in direct opposition to Mark Ruskell's proposals for discussion tonight but, nevertheless, I think that we need to talk about some of the potential negatives of what he proposes in order to understand better how we can progress. Among the key issues that concern me is that, when drivers approach areas of danger, they should be considering their speed. It worries me that the extension of lower speed limits into much larger zones will mean that drivers will not lower their

speed as they approach a particular area, such as a school or another public building. For that reason, I believe that variable speed limits have a value in continually reminding drivers that they should be travelling at a speed that is appropriate for the area that they are in.

Mark Ruskell: Will the member take an intervention?

Alex Johnstone: Perhaps towards the end of my speech, but I have a number of points to make.

Large 20mph zones are less likely to provoke the response from drivers that I described in key areas.

It is also important that we deal with the issues of observance and enforcement if we bring in lower limits. By observance, I mean that drivers need to buy into the measures that we are bringing forward. A speed limit that is ignored is arguably even more dangerous than having no speed limit at all. If drivers are already exceeding the speed limit in a given area, reducing the speed limit is perhaps a naive response.

It is my view that appropriate enforcement of speed limits is vital. It must take place in areas of danger, not in areas where the limit is most likely to be exceeded or broken. For example, we all know that, in rural villages, we are much more likely to catch somebody breaking the speed limit 20 yards before the end-of-speed-limit sign than we are outside the local school. It is therefore important that, when enforcement measures are taken, they are applied in the areas of danger, not in the areas where the greatest number of offences might be committed.

Mark Ruskell: Will the member take an intervention?

Alex Johnstone: Yes, I will at this point.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: I am afraid that you are in your last minute because it is a four-minute speech—there is the clock.

Alex Johnstone: I look forward to having the opportunity to discuss this matter at greater length with Mark Ruskell. I congratulate him on bringing the matter forward. I think that it is worthy of discussion, but it is also one that I have to express concerns about.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: I am sure that Mr Ruskell looks forward to that.

17:17

Clare Adamson (Motherwell and Wishaw) (SNP): I apologise if I have to leave before 6 o'clock this evening and the debate has not finished by then.

I, too, congratulate Mark Ruskell on bringing this debate to the Parliament today. As the convener of the cross-party group on accident prevention and safety awareness, I am well aware of a number of the research areas that Mark Ruskell referred to when discussing the appropriateness of 20mph safety zones. We have a lot of tools in the bag that we could be drawing on to improve road safety. For example, there are parking aspects, which have already been mentioned; graduated licences; and smart-box technology, which feeds advice back to young drivers on their driving and to commercial drivers on the appropriateness of their driving over the course of their working day, with the aim of developing less aggressive driving techniques.

In response to Mr Johnstone's speech, I say that, in my view, the issue is not so much drivers who go over the speed limit, although that is of course a huge issue. It is more the fact that research shows the differences in the risk of significant injury to pedestrians and of damage to cars from accidents at different speeds. The most recent statistics from the Royal Society for the Prevention of Accidents show that the fatality risk for pedestrians struck by a car is 1.5 per cent if the car is moving at 20mph but 8 per cent if it is moving at 30mph. It is a staggering statistic that it is so much more dangerous for a pedestrian to be struck by a vehicle moving at 30mph than by one moving at 20mph.

I come from North Lanarkshire, and I know that North Lanarkshire Council was among the first councils in the country to introduce 20mph speed limits on residential roads and around our primary schools. The statistics from that council alone show the great impact that that reduction had on the number of fatalities.

In 2001, the Scottish Executive issued the circular that allowed guidance on mandatory and advisory 20mph routes in areas. Since then, there have been improvements in road safety. I believe that my colleague Bruce Crawford received an award for his efforts to get Stirling Council to introduce the 20's plenty road advice in its residential streets. Therefore, we have come a long way.

The problem is not, of course, unique to Scotland. I draw members' attention to project EDWARD—or European day without a road death—which was introduced across the European Union to challenge driver behaviour and get people to look at the consequences of their behaviour and how it might needlessly cause a devastating accident.

About 10 years ago, I lost my niece, a teenager, when she was crossing the road. When we talk about the statistics, we have to get to the very

bottom of the issue. It is about real-life tragedy for families.

Lennon Toland was a five-year-old boy who lost his life on 11 September walking home from school in an area in which there were parked cars and there was access across a pavement to a car park. The circumstances of that will, of course, become clear in time, but every one of these incidents is a tragedy for a family. Although it is inconvenient for drivers, the safety of pedestrians, particularly our children, has to be paramount as we consider these issues.

17:22

Jenny Marra (North East Scotland) (Lab): I commend Mark Ruskell for bringing this important debate to Parliament.

I want to speak on behalf of my constituents, a group of whom have been campaigning for a 20mph limit on a street in the city of Dundee. The Minister for Transport and the Islands will be aware of the case, as I have written to him about it and he has replied.

I want to talk through a few of the issues. The nub of the matter is to seek clarity from the Government on the strength and implementation of the guidance. I know from the minister's letter that he is very keen on balancing the 20mph policy with the discretion of local authorities, but the case in my constituency is unique. I am very familiar with the street that I am talking about, because I used to access it as a pupil when I went to St John's high school. Johnston Avenue provided access to my high school, and it now also provides access to Kingspark primary school and Kingspark secondary school. I might be wrong about this, but I wonder whether it is the only solely residential street in Scotland that provides access for pupils to a primary school and two secondary schools. Dundee City Council has continually told residents that the street cannot have a 20mph limit, as it is a road of strategic importance.

I welcome Dundee City Council's consultation. It has done a thorough consultation on the 20mph limit across the city and has identified areas—particularly residential areas—where it wants to move to using the 20mph limit. That is particularly welcome in communities such as Ardler, where a girl was thrown in the air by a car as she was getting ice cream from a van on a Saturday evening earlier this summer.

I ask whether the Government is serious about this policy. In his letter, the minister said that the quide

"aims to ensure greater consistency on setting 20mph speed restrictions throughout Scotland, and encourages local authorities to introduce them near schools, in residential zones".

The street that I am talking about is a purely residential zone and it is unique in having access to two secondary schools and one primary school. I have invited the minister to come to Dundee. He said he would meet with the residents of Johnston Avenue if his diary permits, and I extend that invitation again. The evidence about Johnston Avenue is breathtaking. There is often speeding over 40mph, as it is used as a through-road for council vehicles and buses. For the residents of that road, something should be done.

I will make one further observation.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: Please make it briefly.

Jenny Marra: I will.

My next point may be purely observational on my part, but I wonder whether the minister has any evidence on it. In my experience of driving around Scotland, I have noticed that 20mph areas seem to be in more affluent parts of our communities. I wonder whether residents in those communities are more successful at making their voices heard and imposing stricter speed limits. I am interested in any evidence that the Scottish Government might have on that.

17:26

Gordon Lindhurst (Lothian) (Con): I thank our colleague Mark Ruskell for bringing the important issue of residential road safety to the Parliament. Elements of the debate have been hotly contested, as I am sure everyone is aware, and nowhere more so than in Edinburgh over the past couple of years.

I acknowledge the positive and welcome trend highlighted by Mark Ruskell's motion. The motion recognises the significant drop in the number of casualties on Scotland's roads over the past decade. The numbers continue to improve, showing that there has been a steady drop in the number of fatalities and casualties particularly among children, which is welcome news. However, as long as deaths and injuries continue to happen on Scottish roads, we cannot be satisfied with the way things are. Every death is a tragedy.

The community campaign groups that Mark Ruskell highlights in his motion should be commended for their hard work promoting safety on Scotland's roads. He points, in particular, to 20mph zones and to campaign groups such as 20's plenty.

In Edinburgh, we are live to the debate. The rollout plan currently being implemented across the city is intended, eventually, to result in 80 per cent of Edinburgh's roads adopting the 20mph limit by the end of January 2018. Phase 1 started over the summer period and, as well as covering roads directly outside this building, it extends well beyond the city centre towards more rural communities such as Currie, Balerno and Ratho.

As has been pointed out by my colleague Alex Johnstone, however, simply lowering speed limits is not enough. Concerns have been raised at a local level about the enforcement of the new 20mph limit in the apparent absence of adherence to higher speed limits on arterial routes. The one should not go without the other.

All options should be considered when it comes to possible actions that may improve road safety, but I am not certain that a blanket 20mph policy in Scotland's urban city areas should be accepted without question. In addition to the concern about lack of adherence to higher speed limits and the questions about enforcement, there is the question of the effect of a blanket urban 20mph policy on driver concentration, for example. Clearly, there are areas within residential and urban zones where 20mph is the appropriate speed limit. Indeed, we have had those zones around schools—in many cases for many years—and few would argue against them.

Mark Ruskell: Will the member take an intervention?

Gordon Lindhurst: If I might continue—

The Deputy Presiding Officer: The member is in his last minute.

Gordon Lindhurst: The desired effects are reached by concentrating both the driver's attention and police resources in specific areas, which can eliminate significant risks to certain groups of people. A blanket roll-out may have the effect of diverting the attention of the driver away from the significance of adopting slower speeds in areas such as around schools.

In Edinburgh we also risk grinding to a halt the traffic of the capital city of Scotland, with resultant twin effects of increased congestion and increased pollution. That is not good for business, the economy or the environment.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: That is a good place to stop. That is a recommendation.

Gordon Lindhurst: I will do so in deference to the Presiding Officer.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: Thank you. I call Alison Johnstone, the last speaker in the open debate before the minister.

17:30

Alison Johnstone (Lothian) (Green): I begin by congratulating my Green colleague Mark Ruskell on bringing this issue to the chamber. I will admit at once that I, too, remember the Tufty club, which made me think also about the green cross code man—perhaps the minister can consult YouTube after the debate and learn more.

One important thing to consider while we are discussing this issue is who our cities are for and who our streets are for. Very often we consider the motorist, which is quite right, but we have to think about streets as a shared space, and a space alongside which we all live. This is a real opportunity to address how we use streets and how to make them more accessible to more people.

We all know streets where currently the speed limit is 30mph and, for that reason, parents are very cautious about letting their children out to play. There is every chance that a car will come belting round the corner at 30mph and will catch out someone who is not quite ready for that speed on an otherwise very quiet residential road. There is a real opportunity here to ensure that more people in Scotland have more access to streets.

While we are speaking about the progress in Edinburgh, which is very welcome and has been led in part by Green councillor colleagues just up the road, I would also like to highlight the play out initiative, in which certain streets in the capital have been closed to cars on certain days. I attended one such event on Abbotsford Crescent, which is a through road near Bruntsfield. The day was called "play out" and both ends of the street were cordoned off with a couple of barriers. The police were involved and residents had been consulted. The impact of that one street being closed to cars on that day was quite remarkable. Neighbours were out, and it was not just children. As the residents commented, it was everyone from two-year-olds to 80-year-olds. The atmosphere changed. I was speaking to one of those people today, and they want to see that initiative rolled out. They want it to become a more frequent occurrence, because, let's face it, a lot of our streets are quite quiet on a Sunday.

We should welcome this move to a slower, more considered traffic speed. We are asking that the Government roll out on-road cycle training for all. That is fine when your child is out with a professional trainer and they are getting the input and the experience that they need, but many parents simply will not allow their children to cycle unattended on the road in current circumstances.

We owe thanks to many groups for pushing this agenda forward: living streets, Sustrans and 20's plenty, as well as cycling organisations such as Spokes. We know that in this very city, on workday mornings, 20 per cent of vehicles coming down our main arterial routes are bicycles. I think that that figure could be increased massively.

Professor David Newby, at the Edinburgh Royal Infirmary, has been doing fabulous work highlighting the links between air pollution and heart disease. You are highly likely to have been sitting in busy traffic in the hours before you have a major heart incident. Clare Adamson has expertise in this area. She has pointed out that reducing speed reduces casualties. We have to take such things very seriously indeed.

There are so many opportunities and benefits of focusing on this agenda. The benefits are indisputable, I would argue, if we flip 30 to 20. I ask the Government to use all the powers that it has and, working with our local authority partners across Scotland, to pursue this agenda. Thank you.

17:34

The Minister for Transport and the Islands (Humza Yousaf): Lowering speed is a crucial component in reducing risk on our roads, so I very much congratulate Mark Ruskell on securing this members' business debate. I thank the members from across the chamber for their speeches. They have made some nuanced points; they have also presented challenges to the Government, which I will reflect on as the Minister for Transport and the Islands.

Members spoke passionately and consistently about the correlation between speed and casualties. That is well established; it is almost indisputable, because of the weight of evidence that exists.

In addition, a few members mentioned a reduction in CO₂ emissions. As was discussed last week by the United Kingdom Committee on Climate Change, vehicle speeds impact directly on emissions and community health and lower speeds can help to promote active travel.

I take this opportunity to highlight some of the Scottish Government's activity to ensure that speeds are lowered on our roads. I confess that I have never heard of the Tufty club, but I will google it after the debate. It is a shame, really—I had thought that, with the introduction of Ross Greer and Kate Forbes into the Parliament, I would be considered to be an elder statesman, but that is clearly not the case.

The Government has produced Scotland's road safety framework to 2020, which a number of members referred to. It sets out a vision of a future where there are no fatalities on Scotland's roads. Although that remains an ambitious target, I want to live in a Scotland where that ambition is realised.

Underpinning the vision are challenging casualty reduction targets. Some members have referred to

them, but I will point out some specifics. Fatalities have reduced by 44 per cent from the 2004 to 2008 baseline. However, given that 162 people were killed on our roads in 2015, there is no room for complacency. I reiterate that, as members said, one person killed on our roads is one person too many.

I thought that Clare Adamson was very brave. I appreciate her sharing of her personal story about the loss of her niece eight years ago. That was an important reminder to us that behind the statistics are human lives and that behind those human lives are families who are absolutely devastated by the impact of those fatalities.

The framework outlines 96 commitments that include measures to highlight the benefits of driving at lower speeds in relation to road safety, health impacts, fuel efficiency, creating a space that is more equally shared, as Alison Johnstone just mentioned, and encouraging more active travel choices. I will not go through all 96 commitments, but I recommend that members here, as well as members of the public who have an interest, read—or perhaps flick—their way through that important document.

The framework contains a clear commitment to encourage local authorities to introduce 20mph zones or limits in residential areas. That is perhaps the crux of Mark Ruskell's conversation and intention in bringing the debate to the Parliament. Jenny Marra referred to that issue when she gave the example of Johnston Avenue. Should we go for a blanket approach? The Government is not—at the moment—convinced of that, because the consultations that we have had with local authorities show that they prefer to have discretion about where to roll out 20mph zones. The uptake of that has been fairly good, as has been mentioned.

Mark Ruskell: Does the minister acknowledge that the traffic regulation order process is complex and burdensome on local authorities? It might be simpler just to say to local authorities that they should decide where they want the main 30mph arterial routes to be and exempt them from a default 20mph limit, rather than try to create endless networks for 20mph zones that are costly and time consuming to put in place.

Humza Yousaf: I am happy take the member's point further and to speak to City of Edinburgh Council officials about it, but the Edinburgh example is a good one, as the process does not seem to have been as cumbersome as the member suggests. I will reflect on the TRO scheme and look at where we could make the system easier and less cumbersome. However, local authorities' feedback is that they want to have discretion. I am not saying that they have always got it right or that they will always get it

right, in the same way as I am sure that we all appreciate that the Government does not always get things right.

I consider that having the decision in the hands of local authorities, which should know their communities better, is a better approach. I think that that is working. The City of Edinburgh Council is taking the lead, but it is not the only local authority that is driving forward—perhaps I should say moving forward—the agenda. Glasgow City Council introduced a city centre 20mph zone from 21 March, Dundee City Council's consultation has been mentioned by Jenny Marra and great advances are being made by Fife Council, where Jenny Marra has an interest as well.

Jenny Marra: Does the minister think that all roads that provide access to a school should have a speed limit of 20mph?

Humza Yousaf: It is for local authorities to make that decision, but we are encouraging them to set such a limit on roads that are in residential zones or that are near schools—of course, we think that it is sensible for them to have a 20mph speed limit. However, that must be at local authorities' discretion.

I return to Johnston Avenue, which Ms Marra wrote to me about and on which I replied to her. As time and my diary allow, I will visit that street and meet its residents. However, I do not know the ins and outs of the matter, and I assume that the local authority knows the area better than anybody else and would, in consultation with the residents, take the appropriate measures. On the back of the more detailed description of that street that Jenny Marra gave, in my next conversation with Dundee City Council I will find out what is going on and what the thinking is. I am happy to report back to her on that.

I am at the end of my allotted time. It is safe to say that the Scottish Government is proud of the progress that has been made on 20mph zones. I thank Mark Ruskell for bringing the debate to the chamber and I am more than happy to have a further conversation with him about some of the complexities in the current system that he spoke about. I am also happy to take any other suggestions. At the heart of the debate is the safety of the people—in particular, the children—of Scotland. I am open minded about any plans that can help us to make our roads safer.

Meeting closed at 17:42.

This is the final edition of the Official Repo	ort for this meeting. It is part of the	e Scottish Parliament Official Report archive	
	and has been sent for legal dep	DOSIT.	
Published in Edinburgh by the Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body, the Scottish Parliament, Edinburgh, EH99 1SP			
All documents are available on the Scottish Parliament website at:		For information on the Scottish Parliament contact Public Information on:	
www.parliament.scot		Telephone: 0131 348 5000 Textphone: 0800 092 7100	
Information on non-endorsed print suppliers is available here:		Email: sp.info@parliament.scot	
www.parliament.scot/documents			



